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PREFACE 

It was my privilege in the fall of 1970 to deliver the James W. 

Richard Lectures in History at the University of Virginia. 

The lectures are printed in the following pages, with only 

an occasional revision of the text, substantially as they orig¬ 

inally were delivered, and in the style adopted for the pur¬ 

poses of an oral presentation. The special difficulty in much 

of the material employed will justify, I hope, the relatively 

heavy documentation that has been added. 

In addition to the compliment that came with the invita¬ 

tion to deliver the lectures, I am indebted to the committee 

for the James W. Richard Lectures for suggesting the topic. 

I feel deeply obligated also for the many courtesies extended 

to me and my wife on the occasion of our visit to Charlottes¬ 

ville by the committee’s chairman, Professor Neill H. Alford, 

Jr., of the School of Law, and by long-time friends in the 

Department of History. It would be difficult to find any¬ 

where more gracious and considerate hosts. 

Among the obligations incurred while preparing for the 

lectures, my chief indebtedness is to George PIritz and Mi¬ 

chael Hassan, two able and faithful young men who in suc¬ 

cession were assigned to me by the Bureau of Student Aid 

of Princeton University as research assistants. I am obliged 

to Lawrence Stone for several helpful suggestions, and to 

another colleague, Sheldon Hackney, for a critical reading 

of parts of the text, but such mistakes as may be found in it 

are wholly my own. My special indebtedness to Robert Bren¬ 

ner of the University of California, Los Angeles, is acknowl¬ 

edged in more than one place in the text. I am grateful to 

him for permission to draw upon his as yet unpublished 
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manuscript. At the Virginia State Library in Richmond I 

am indebted to Randolph W. Church, State Librarian, and 

especially to John Dudley for his friendly generosity in 

drawing upon an unrivaled knowledge of the Library’s rich 

resources for the assistance of a visiting historian. 

Wesley Frank Craven 

Princeton, N.J. 

June 20, iyji 
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WHITE 

STRICT regard for the Indian’s undebatable claim to 

priority of settlement in Virginia would require that this 

first discussion be devoted to the Red Virginian. But so 

largely do we depend for our knowledge of the area’s original 

inhabitants upon evidence recorded by the white settler that 

it is helpful to speak first of him. 

Who was he? No other question has more persistently 

claimed the attention of historians writing of the colony’s 

early history, and no other has generated more controversy. 

Although the answer must be sought in records so incom¬ 

plete, or otherwise uncertain in character, as virtually to 

guarantee the continuance of some very old disputes, it 

fortunately is possible to renew the discussion with several 

points on which a general agreement is possible. 

First, he was, with no more than the rarest of exceptions, 

an Englishman. Convention requires that we pause here to 

acknowledge the presence of a few Germans, Poles, Italians, 

Hollanders, and Frenchmen, and of a larger but still small 

number of Scottish and Irish settlers, to whom must be added 

an indeterminate number of Welshmen. But no more than 

a pause is needed. The largest recorded migration of Scots¬ 

men is that of 150 prisoners of wrar transported to the colony 

early in the 1650s, after the defeat of Charles II at Worcester.1 

Others migrated as individuals, among them the Reverend 

James Blair, the cantankerous first president of the College 

of William and Mary, and the Reverend Alexander Moray, 

who reported in 1665 that Scotsmen met intense prejudice 

in Virginia.2 Only after the Act of Union in 1707 had created 

the United Kingdom, and the somewhat later rise of Glasgow 

to leadership in the tobacco trade, was the way cleared for a 
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numerically significant migration from Scotland to the Ches¬ 

apeake. The so-called Scotch-Irish migration from Northern 

Ireland belongs, of course, almost entirely to the eighteenth 

century. Irish prisoners of war shipped over in Cromwell’s 

time may have outnumbered the Scottish prisoners. More¬ 

over, Ireland quickly became a favored recruiting ground 

for indentured servants, and English shipmasters frequently 

found there an easy port of call for the purpose of rounding 

out their cargoes of servants on voyages to America. But there 

is good reason for believing that most of the Irish servants 

were shipped to the West Indies.3 As for the Welsh, although 

many Welsh names may be found in the records of seven¬ 

teenth-century Virginia, many of these can also be English. 

Firm evidence on the scale of the migration from Wales is 

extraordinarily difficult to find, even though there can be 

little doubt that the migration deserves special mention.4 

To say that the early settlers of Virginia were predom¬ 

inantly English in origin is to suggest much that is of im¬ 

portance for an understanding of them. It is hardly necessary 

to dwell once more upon the great significance of their iden¬ 

tification with the traditions of the Common Law, a decen¬ 

tralized system of local administration, and parliamentary 

usages of government for the development of the colony’s 

political institutions. But it may be helpful in passing to 

observe that the especially active interest historians have 

taken of late in the study of English society at that time has 

called into question many of the assumptions upon which 

students of colonial America long have depended. If I may 

attempt the briefest of summaries, it appears that England 

at the time of our first settlements was not quite so staid, so 

fixed in the older ways of life, as we often have found it con¬ 

venient to assume. Although the colonists came from an old 

society, one properly described as traditional, it was also a 

society that was experiencing a great deal of dynamic change. 

Many Englishmen still lived and died where they were born, 

but many others, and not just the rogues and vagabonds. 
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were on the move from place to place—so much so that the 

decision to migrate to America must have involved, for some 

at least, much less of an uprooting than we long have 

imagined.5 

General agreement can be had also on the relative un¬ 

importance, for the purposes of a discussion of the seven¬ 

teenth-century Virginian, of the migration to the colony 

during its earlier years. Although something like six thou¬ 

sand persons migrated to Virginia between 1607 and the 

dissolution of the Virginia Company in 1624, a census taken 

early in the following year showed hardly more than twelve 

hundred of them still living in the colony.6 Some had come, 

in the first instance, for no more than a temporary and hope¬ 

fully profitable adventure. Of those who had migrated with 

a view to taking up a permanent residence, some had re¬ 

turned to England in bitter disappointment and a much 

larger number had died, more from epidemic disease than 

at the hands of hostile Indians. The population of Virginia 

at the close of the century was largely attributable to a much 

later migration. And this observation seems to be no less true 

of the great families which were rising by that time to posi¬ 

tions of leadership in a newly emerging society than of the 

common run of its members.7 

Sharp differences of opinion once existed as to the English 

origins of these families, but again there appears now to be 

a general agreement. Certainly I could add little to what has 

been said on the subject by such modern scholars as Thomas 

J. Wertenbaker, Louis B. Wright, Peter Laslett, Bernard 

Bailyn, and Richard L. Morton.8 In some instances it is pos¬ 

sible to speak with reasonable assurance regarding the men 

who founded the great families, in others the founder re¬ 

mains a person of obscure background. It is evident that the 

mercantile communities of England, especially London and 

Bristol, were well represented, as were also armigerous fam¬ 

ilies of the English countryside, usually by a younger son 

presumably ambitious to live in America qn a scale com- 
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parable to that enjoyed by his oldest brother under the gen¬ 

erally prevailing rule of primogeniture for the inheritance 

of the family’s estate. Very often, it appears, this younger son 

may first have sought his fortune in London. Whatever dif¬ 

ferences of status may have separated the founders of Vir¬ 

ginia’s “first families” in England, they were all adventurers 

in the fullest sense of the term, men willing to gamble for 

high stakes in the new world in the hope of enjoying what¬ 

ever advantage might be gained according to the conven¬ 

tions of an old social order. They have been so closely 

studied, by their descendants among others, that we are not 

likely to know much more about them than we do know at 

present. The register of an English parish, however com¬ 

plete, does not always provide a positive identification of the 

persons named therein. Even when heraldric records are 

available, it can be difficult to read them with certainty, for 

it was a time when the College of Heralds was notoriously 

accommodating in its adjustment to a growing demand for 

evidence of a genteel status.9 

Perhaps no settler in seventeenth-century Virginia has 

been more intensively studied than Richard Lee, the founder 

of one of Virginia’s greatest families. It is known, and here 

I follow the official historian of the Society of the Lees of 

Virginia, that Richard came from a Shropshire family, and 

close reasoning from evidence partly circumstantial has es¬ 

tablished a strong probability as to his parentage, but it is 

not known where or when he was born, and no certain in¬ 

formation has been discovered regarding his career before 

he reached Virginia, probably in 1640 but possibly in 1639.10 

Perhaps we all should relax in the confident assurance of a 

member of the family association who some years back was 

quoted as saying “the Lees of Virginia need no English 

ancestry.”11 

One other area of agreement demands special attention, 

for in this instance it is necessary to emphasize the disagree¬ 

ment between those who have bothered to be informed on 



White 5 

the subject and those who persist in writing about it without 

regard for the information that is available in the works of 

modern scholars. So far as I know, no historian has ever 

challenged the proposition that the vast majority of the 

settlers in seventeenth-century Virginia, perhaps 75 percent 

or more of them, reached the colony under some form of 

contract, or indenture, for a period of service sufficiently long 

to meet the cost of their passage from England. The question 

of the social origins of the indentured servant, therefore, has 

always been one of critical importance, and for a long time 

one of the more persistent stereotypes of American history 

was allowed to serve as an answer. In this stereotype the in¬ 

dentured servant has been presented as a person recruited 

chiefly from the lower levels of English society, and especially 

from the class of laborers, whose lot at the time was far from 

being a happy one; as very often a criminal or at best a rogue 

or vagabond; and as an individual so young as to have been 

an easy victim of the more unscrupulous methods employed 

by the recruiting agents who served the shipmasters engaged 

in the tobacco trade with the Chesapeake. Little wonder that 

more than one author, usually without research or even wide 

reading, has considered an account of the servant trade of 

the seventeenth century an appropriate introduction to the 

history of the slave trade. 

A number of influences helped to establish this stereotype, 

beginning with the complaints made by seventeenth-century 

masters regarding their servants, the kind of complaints that 

masters of servants presumably have made in all ages and 

places—in some instances, of course, justifiably. The stereo¬ 

type owes its survival in part to the inclination of a dem¬ 

ocratic America to believe that the country consistently has 

had a special attraction for the downtrodden of the old 

world. No less important may have been the opportunity 

historians have provided for the lay investigator who dis¬ 

covers his own descent from a person landing in Virginia 

under an indenture to assume that his ancestor represents 
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the exception serving to prove the general rule. Above all, 

the record of the migration to seventeenth-century Virginia 

has remained so incomplete that historians necessarily have 

leaned heavily upon the evidence provided by legislative 

and judicial actions in the colony, evidence that can be mis¬ 

leading as to the actual composition of the migration. 

Unfortunately, the English government, having conceded 

to influential promoters of colonization a right to ignore 

normal restrictions on emigration from the kingdom, both¬ 

ered to keep few records. It is significant that of those kept 

by authorities in England the most informative to survive 

for the guidance of modern students reflect an effort to cor¬ 

rect the more obvious abuses to which the servant trade was 

subject. Of these the fullest is a registry of approximately 

ten thousand persons sailing from Bristol between 1654 and 

1685 for the American plantations, of whom almost half gave 

their destination as Virginia. Another surviving fragment is 

a comparable register for the port of London in the years 

1683-84.12 The sources are very limited indeed, but they have 

served nevertheless to call into serious question the bias so 

often displayed by even the best informed of historians who 

continue to speak of indentured servitude, this last a term 

too closely identified with the institution of slavery to be 

really helpful. 

For some time now informed historians have been agreed 

that all kinds of Englishmen, persons drawn from all classes 

except those at the very top, migrated to the colonies under 

some form of indenture. Abbot Smith in a study of criminal 

transportation has greatly reduced the possibility that there 

was a significantly large criminal element in the seventeenth- 

century migration to the colonies simply by demonstrating 

the administrative inefficiency which originally characterized 

a developing system of conditional pardons. His study leaves 

no doubt that many more criminals were shipped to Virginia 

in the eighteenth century than there were during the seven¬ 

teenth.13 He also has cast grave doubt upon much of the 
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evidence used by earlier historians in support of exaggerated 

estimates of the number of servants who had been kid¬ 

napped, or “spirited” out of the country, as contemporaries 

were wont to say. His discussion of a difficult subject leads to 

the conclusion that “a very small proportion indeed” of the 

indentured servants “were carried away forcibly and entirely 

against their wills.”14 Although the limited action taken by 

government to correct abuses in the servant trade was not 

always effective, it is safe enough to conclude that most of 

those who migrated to Virginia as indentured servants did so 

willingly, however much they may have been misled in their 

expectations. 

Such a conclusion is reinforced by fragmentary evidence 

suggesting that the indentured servants on average may not 

have been quite so young as we often have thought—that 

most of them were at least eighteen years of age, and that the 

common age for migrating could have been twenty or more. 

This is the indication provided by the London list of 1683- 

84, and it is amptly supported by the ages given in lists of 

some 2,000 persons sailing from London for Virginia in 

1635.15 By my count, these lists show that more than half of 

the passengers, who ranged in age from fourteen weeks to 

sixty years, were in the age range of twenty to twenty-nine 

(1,081 out of 2,013), that less than a third of them (626) were 

under twenty, and that in this younger group better than 

half (341) were eighteen or nineteen years of age. Perhaps the 

sjiecial concern shown by the legislature and the courts for 

protection of the most vulnerable element of the servant 

population has misled us. 

It is not necessary to argue that none of the servants were 

young, or that there were among them no convicts, or to dis¬ 

miss the oft-quoted statement of the mayor of Bristol in 1662 

that among those sailing from that port for the plantations 

were husbands fleeing their wives, runaway children and ap¬ 

prentices, and criminals one jump ahead of arrest.16 What 

is needed is a more balanced view, some recognition that 
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there were others who probably were more representative of 

the whole. 

The most interesting evidence as to who these others may 

have been has been presented by Mildred Campbell, an es¬ 

pecially well-informed student of migration from England 

to colonial America. Professor Campbell’s analysis of the 

occupations listed for male servants sailing from Bristol for 

the plantations after 1654 shows that only about 10 percent 

of them were listed as laborers. The largest single group were 

yeomen and husbandmen, with the yeomen outnumbering 

the husbandmen, and the next largest group were artisans 

and tradesmen, who tvere outnumbered nearly two to one 

by the farmers. When the two largest groupings are com¬ 

bined, the ratio of the sum to the number of laborers is some¬ 

thing like five to one. The London registry of 1683-84 reveals 

roughly the same ratio, but in this case skilled workers are 

more numerous than the farmers, and among the latter there 

are more husbandmen than yeomen.17 Even when allowance 

is made for those who may have seized an opportunity on 

their way to America to lift their status a notch or two, the 

evidence is impressive, and especially for the indication it 

gives that the agricultural segment of England’s population 

was heavily represented. No less interesting is Professor 

Campbell’s comment that her investigation of persons mi¬ 

grating to the colonies in the eighteenth century has had 

comparable results. 

Perhaps we would have understood the character of the 

migration to Virginia in the seventeenth century more read¬ 

ily had the institution of apprenticeship taken firmer root 

than it did in our society, for indentured service in the 

colonies was a direct development out of that institution. 

Service as an apprentice was for the seventeenth-century 

Englishman a familiar wray into any number of trades and 

crafts, as also into certain professions and some of the greatest 

trading corporations of the day. To become an apprentice to 

a Virginia planter, at a time when it was commonly under- 
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stood that every occupation had its own mysteries and that 

they were best learned through the instruction of those who 

previously had been initiated, was a natural decision to 

make. To the validity of this proposition more than one sur¬ 

viving indenture testifies by its very phrasing. Thus, in 1659 

Bartholomew Clarke was bound “apprentice unto Edward 

Rowzie of Virginia, planter” for a term of four years in re¬ 

turn for the promise that he would be taught “the mystery, 

art, and occupation of a planter.”18 

Perhaps also the stereotype would be easier to correct if 

historians would stop speaking of the indentured servant as 

though he had been a commodity instead of a person. Rightly 

recognizing that his opportunity to migrate to Virginia de¬ 

pended upon the need for additional cargo on the outward 

voyages of the tobacco fleet, historians have talked not so 

much in terms of a migration as rather of an exchange of 

tobacco for labor. Not only have we thereby reduced the 

servant to the status of a commodity, but the emphasis given 

this exchange has helped to persuade us that the colony’s 

labor force was annually renewed at a more or less constant 

rate through much of the century. That assumption, in turn, 

has led us to make estimates of the total migration to seven¬ 

teenth-century Virginia which run as high as one hundred 

thousand or even more persons. 

Now these, of course, are important assumptions, assump¬ 

tions which unavoidably color any interpretation of the 

colony’s early history, so much so as to demand the closest 

examination of any record that may be available for study. 

And there is one record, the only one that has any claim at 

all to comprehensive coverage, which has not been explored 

so fully as it might be, and which I now propose to explore. 

It is the record provided by the land patents. It is well 

knowm that the distinguishing feature of Virginia’s land 

policy to the end of the century was the award of a fifty-acre 

headright for any person brought into the colony, the award 

belonging to the person who paid the cost of the passage 
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from England, including the person who paid his own way. 

Introduced in 1617 as a special inducement for adventurers 

in the Virginia Company’s joint-stock funds to take up and 

develop the land dividends to which they were then entitled, 

the headlight by a final revision of the company’s policy in 

1618 was limited to such individuals as might be sent to the 

colony before midsummer’s day of 1625. For a decade after 

the company’s dissolution in 1624 there was uncertainty as 

to the policy the colony would be allowed to follow, but in 

July 1634 the king responded to a fresh appeal from James¬ 

town by authorizing grants of land according to the rules 

previously established by the Virginia Company.19 This clar¬ 

ification of policy was taken to mean chiefly that the colony’s 

government might honor headrights for immigrants enter¬ 

ing Virginia after midsummer 1625, and the ruling found 

immediate reflection in the issuance by acting Governor 

John West of some three hundred patents for more than two 

thousand headrights between the spring of 1635 and the end 

of 1636.* Through the following six decades relatively few 

land patents were granted upon other considerations than a 

claim to headrights. There were, it is true, other ways of 

getting land, including the purchase of previously developed 

properties by immigrants who had the funds needed for such 

a purchase, but it seems reasonable to assume that relatively 

few persons entered the colony without leaving some record 

of their entry in a land patent.20 In any case, the land patents 

constitute the fullest record we possess of the migration to 

seventeenth-century Virginia, and I have concluded that this 

fact in itself might warrant an effort to subject the record to 

a somewhat closer analysis than has yet been attempted.21 

Two main questions have shaped my investigation. First, 

I have hoped that I might establish some helpful indication 

as to the outside limit that should be placed on the size of 

the total migration to seventeenth-century Virginia. Second, 

* See the table below, p. 15. 



and more important, I have hoped that the data drawn from 

the patents might serve, however roughly, to distribute the 

migration over time, in such a way perhaps as to provide 

some better understanding of its essential character. The 

study has been made possible by Nell M. Nugent’s Cavaliers 

and Pioneers, a publication containing abstracts of the Vir¬ 

ginia land patents to 1666, and by the unpublished continua¬ 

tion of these abstracts that may be consulted in the Virginia 

State Library at Richmond.22 These abstracts, which I have 

used for the years extending from 1635 through 1699, pro¬ 

vide all the data needed for a quantitative analysis: the date 

of the patent in all but a very few instances, the name of the 

patentee or patentees, the acreage and its location, and the 

number of the headrights serving as a warrant for the grant. 

More often than not the persons providing the headrights 

are listed by name. Because the patents themselves quickly 

assumed a standard form, the tabulation of the data has been 

more tedious than difficult. 

Let it be admitted at once that the data thus assembled 

can provide no precise answer to either of the two main 

questions I have raised. The abuses to which the colony’s 

land system was subject are as obvious as they are well 

known. A claim to the headlight might require no more than 

an oath taken in a county court before justices presumably 

favorable to the claimant.23 Shipmasters took a leading role 

in speculative ventures involving both the headrights and 

the titles to land they served to establish. Sailors on service 

with the tobacco fleet might be entered as headrights for 

every visit they made to the colony.24 That more than one 

grant might be made for the same headright is beyond dis¬ 

pute, and the problem of eliminating duplications defies 

solution because of the frequent repetition in the patents of 

the more common of English surnames and the unimagina¬ 

tive practice of seventeenth-century parents in designating 

their offspring by the more familiar of Christian names, and 

this without providing the child with a middle name. A 
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further difficulty arises from the fact that the patents were 

grants for specified acreages previously located, and presum¬ 

ably surveyed; no close correlation can be assumed between 

the date of the patent and the time at which persons listed 

therein reached the colony. In all cases there would be some 

delay, and on occasion a very considerable one. But it is my 

impression that the normal delay could have been less than 

a year, or at the most not much more than a year, except for 

the period immediately following 1634, when some of the 

patents clearly represent a backlog of accumulated claims, 

and for the later years of the century, when the system was 

subjected to even more serious abuses than those I have men¬ 

tioned.25 In other words, there are reasons for believing that 

through much of the century, and for what proves to be the 

main bulk of the record, the land patents do provide a rough 

indication of the relative size of the migration in successive 

periods of time. 

My own consideration of the corruptions to which the 

administration of the land system was subject has led me to 

one reasonably firm conclusion, which is that there could not 

have been more people migrating to Virginia in the seven¬ 

teenth century than the total number of headrights appear¬ 

ing in the land patents of that century. Indeed, it is my strong 

suspicion that the migration actually was somewhat smaller 

than that total, but such a conclusion depends upon the 

answer to a further question. How complete is the surviving 

record? We must depend upon transcriptions from the orig¬ 

inal patents into the so-called patent books that were made 

by clerks who began their work late in the century. The very 

extent of the record surviving in these books has helped to 

persuade me that the loss to the ravages of time, to more than 

one fire at Jamestown, and to the carelessness of clerks in the 

secretary’s office (so forcefully described by Robert Beverley 

in his History, written just after the century’s close) prob¬ 

ably was not very great, and that we have a reasonably full 

record.26 
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I am especially persuaded by internal evidence that the 

marked fluctuations I have found in the indicated size of 

the migration from time to time do not reflect serious losses 

in the record. The clerks made an obvious attempt in tran¬ 

scribing the patents to group them under the headings of the 

successive governors who made the grants, but one quickly 

learns in his tabulations that no main entry for an admin¬ 

istration, or for a given year, can be regarded as complete. 

Later on, and in some instances very late on, one finds addi¬ 

tional patents which the clerks evidently had turned up after 

closing a main entry, and which they proceeded to transcribe 

at whatever point in the book they had reached or wherever 

seemed convenient. It is reassuring when these later entries 

confirm, as they consistently do, the conclusion indicated by 

the main entry. 

I readily agree that there are professional risks in the task 

I have undertaken, but possibly I can be viewed as of a suffi¬ 

cient age to assume them. Let me repeat that there is no other 

record of comparable fullness. It is a record historians re¬ 

peatedly have drawn upon for other purposes. I found in its 

very existence a challenge I could not resist. However approx¬ 

imate may be the figures I have drawn from the land patents, 

they suggest a pattern in the migration to seventeenth- 

century Virginia which I hope may be considered significant. 

A rough count of the headlights year by year, according to 

the year in which the patents were issued, indicates that there 

was no steady, annually recurring, or even steadily mounting 

or declining, migration into Virginia during that century. 

Instead, the migration appears to have achieved an impres¬ 

sive total by concentration in particular periods of time, and 

especially in the quarter century extending from about 1650 

through 1674. By a rough count I mean that I have counted 

and tabulated the results of that counting, but I have not re¬ 

counted. Nor have I attempted to correct the resulting totals 

by some reduction that might be considered a proper allow¬ 

ance for duplications or for other abuses in the administra- 
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tion of the system. It has seemed to me that any decision as 

to the extent of such a reduction would be so arbitrary as to 

offer no advantage over the simpler procedure of working 

with the figures taken unchanged from the abstracts.27 

The first period in which the land records suggest a heavy 

concentration of immigration into Virginia embraces the 

years extending from 1635 through 1639. The total number 

of headrights recorded for those years, by my counting, was 

6,766, for an average of almost 1,700 per year. These figures 

can be misleading because more than a few of the headrights, 

as I have previously observed, represented persons migrating 

to the colony before, even much before, the year 1635. Ob¬ 

viously, the years following immediately upon the clarifica¬ 

tion of the king’s policy in 1634 were a time for catching up 

on a backlog of hitherto unconfirmed claims, or for recording 

in regular form grants theretofore made by special order of 

the governor and council. Perhaps the total is best read as 

representative of the migration to the colony between 1625 

and 1640, when the population has been estimated at about 

eight thousand, an estimate that is reasonably consistent with 

the figures I have given for the headrights in this period. It 

is difficult to avoid the impression, however, that somewhere 

around 1635 there occurred an acceleration in the rate of 

migration from England, perhaps because the clarification 

of land policy had provided a fresh encouragement.28 

In 1640 the number of headrights recorded in land patents 

dropped from the 1,262 of the preceding year to 278, and fell 

in 1641 to 172. For 1642, the year in which Sir William 

Berkeley became governor, recorded headrights show a pre¬ 

cipitous rise to almost 1,300, but in the next year they drop 

to less than goo, and in 1644 to 157, the lowest number I have 

found for any year in the century. The annual average for 

headrights confirmed in land patents issued from 1644 

through 1647 is hardly more than 270, with tire highest num¬ 

ber (325) registered in 1646. 

The years 1648-49, when the annual average rose to 600, 
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mark a distinct turning point that apparently reflects the 

beginning of an extraordinary migration which continued 

without significant break all the way through 1658. In the 

nine years extending from 1650, when over 1,900 headrights 

were recorded, to 1658, when the total number was better 

than 2,200, the grand total of headrights exceeded 18,000— 

for an annual average of over 2,000. The peak was reached 

in 1653, with almost 3,000 headrights, and the low year, with 

some 1,200, was 1655. The total declined in 1659 to just over 

750 and dropped to just over 400 in 1660, but it began to 

pick up in 1661-62 at a rate providing for the four years an 

average of a little more than 750.* 

In 1663 the total number of headrights jumped from the 

947 of the preceding year to more than 2,4oo,f and in 1664 

the highest peak for the entire century was reached, with 

better than 3,200 headrights. The total dropped in 1665 to a 

little more than 1,900, but rose in the next year to almost 

3,000. And so it went for another eight years, with the 1,200 

listed for 1671 being the lowest figure for any single year and 

the better than 2,500 for 1673 the highest. The twelve years 

beginning with 1663 and ending with 1674 show a combined 

total of 25,872 headrights, which is larger than the combined 

total for the remaining twenty-five years in the century. In 

1675 the number of headrights recorded in land patents 

* The count by y ear fr om 1635 to 16 74 is as follows: 

1635- 1645 224 1655 1,215 1665 1,919 

1636 2,028 1646 325 1656 1,339 1666 2,987 

1637 2,070 1647 236 1657 2,346 1667 2,185 

1638 1,406 1648 603 1658 2,272 1668 1,671 

1639 1,262 1649 596 1659 754 1669 1,628 

1640 278 1650 : 1,924 1660 411 1670 1,899 

1641 172 1651 1,460 1661 915 1671 1,202 

1642 131 1652 1,906 1662 947 1672 1,952 

1643 887 1653 2,911 1663 2,463 1673 2,582 

1644 157 1654 2,709 1664 3,243 1674 2,241 

f Including patents granted by Berkeley for land in what became 

North Carolina. See note 25. 
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dropped from the some 2,200 of the preceding year to 709, 

a figure remarkably close to the average for this and the two 

succeeding years considered together. Only in 1678 did the 

total again exceed 1,000, and that level was next reached in 

1682. The three years beginning then and ending with 1684 

show an annual average just short of 1,400, which is also the 

approximate figure for 1687, but in all other years of that 

decade the totals fall well below a thousand. In the 1690s 

fluctuations were more marked than they had been at any 

time since the 1640s, and the annual average was 938.* 

Now let me sum up. My tabulation indicates a grand total 

of more than 82,000 headrights listed in land patents during 

the years reaching from 1635 through 1699. Of this total, 

which probably should be viewed as substantially larger than 

the actual size of the migration for that period, well over half 

(almost 47,000) were recorded during the twenty-five years 

beginning with 1650. The total for the last quarter of the 

century was less than 24,000; for the years preceding 1650 

less than i2,ooo.29 Even if the estimated 6,000 persons migrat¬ 

ing to the colony before 1625 be added, the indication re¬ 

mains that the great migration to Virginia had its beginning 

at mid-century and that well over half of those who migrated 

there during the whole course of the century did so in its 

third quarter. 

The general conclusion to which these figures point, that 

the migration had an especially heavy concentration in the 

twenty-five years immediately following mid-century, is 

not in itself startling. This has been an accepted view for a 

long time, a view depending in part upon evidence roughly 

* The count by year from 1675 through 1699 follows: 
1675 709 1681: 934 1688: 859 1694 872 
1676 655 1682: 1,614 1689: 687 1695 1,311 
1677 750 1683: 1.341 1696 1,123 
1678 1,129 1684: 1,204 1690: 1,555 1697 393 
1679 748 1685: 657 1691: 12)78 1698 625 
1680 834 1686: 891 1692: 381 1699 798 

1687: 1.380 1693: 752 
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drawn from the land patents and even more perhaps upon the 

fact that the number of counties in the Virginia colony was 

exactly doubled in the two decades falling between 1648 and 

1669.30 But I, at least, found the extent of the indicated 

concentration surprising, and there are reasons for believing 

that the concentration may have been even more marked 

than my figures suggest. Since we are here primarily con¬ 

cerned with a migration of Englishmen, it should be noted 

that the total number of headrights includes over 4,000 Ne¬ 

groes, more than half of them recorded in the last quarter of 

the century and chiefly in its final decade.* It might be diffi¬ 

cult to prove beyond dispute that the land records were 

progressively corrupted by abusive usages, and yet the weight 

of the evidence argues that this is true. Manning Voorhis, 

whose studies of land policy I have found to be especially 

well informed, has observed that the issuance of headright 

certificates increasingly became a routine formality handled 

by the clerks of the county courts and of the secretary’s office 

at Jamestown, and that outright sale of headrights by the 

latter, for fees of one to five shillings per headright, began 

at some time before 1692, though it is impossible to determine 

just when or the actual extent of the practice. It is signifi¬ 

cant that when in 1699 the governor and council took formal 

action on the question of the illegal sale of headright cer¬ 

tificates, they decided to continue the practice for the time 

being at the uniform rate of five shillings per headlight.31 

That the development of this particular abuse was related 

to an actual decline in the migration to the colony is indicated 

by the fact that the fullest surviving English record of the 

migration, the previously mentioned list of persons sailing 

from Bristol, reached its end for all practical purposes in 

1679. The editors of a published version of the list have ex¬ 

plained its ending in the simple terms of a migration that had 

dried up at its source.32 

See below, pp. 85, 86. 
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Before turning to some further consideration of the impli¬ 

cations of tire data extracted from the land patents, let me 

report on the opportunity I have had to check this evidence 

against a recently published index of The Early Settlers of 

Maryland, those who settled there by 1680, an index for¬ 

tunately enjoying the sponsorship of the very capable staff 

of the Hall of Records at Annapolis.33 In more than one way 

the migration to Maryland was an extension of that to Vir¬ 

ginia, and the opportunity for comparison is all the more 

welcome because in each colony the headright served as the 

basis of its land policy. Perhaps it is more important to ob¬ 

serve that the names in this Maryland publication are drawn 

from land records which carry evidence as to the time of the 

settlers’ arrival in the colony, evidence that is wanting in the 

Virginia patents. A sample drawn first from every tenth page 

of a book running to more than five hundred pages, and then 

from a comparable number of pages selected at random, 

indicates that there were significant fluctuations in the size 

of the migration to Maryland from year to year. A very low 

level of migration through the 1640s is followed by an accel¬ 

eration during the 1650s, and an impressive pickup after 

1660, with the figures for 1665 apparently representing the 

heaviest migration in a single year, which is only a year later 

than that indicated by the land patents for Virginia. Of a 

possible total of 21,000 persons who settled in Maryland be¬ 

tween 1633 and 1680 more than three-fourths seem to have 

reached the colony after 1660. It should be added that an 

apparent drop in the number of immigrants between 1679 

and 1680 may well represent nothing more than a normal 

fluctuation. 

When one turns to the problem of explaining the pattern 

the migration to Virginia seems to have assumed, he thinks 

first of certain political developments. There can be no doubt 

that the revolutionary crisis centering upon England's Civil 

War provides the basic explanation for the sharp decline 

that came with the 1640s. It wTas a time of trouble with the 
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Scots, of rebellion in Ireland, and finally of open warfare 

between the adherents of the parliament and of the king, a 

time when stoppages were placed against shipping intended 

for overseas employment, and when the energies of the king¬ 

dom were turned inward in the search for a solution to its 

own problems. The acceleration of the migration after 1649, 

when Charles I was executed, invites renewed attention to 

the desire of royalists to get out of a country then seemingly 

destined to be ruled by Puritans, but the point has to be 

made with due regard for the evidence that the migration 

continued after the restoration of royal government in 1660, 

and for some time in mounting force. Apparently there were 

followers of Cromwell as anxious to get out of the kingdom 

as the royalists before them had been, and there is evidence 

enough to support the view, despite its failure to find em¬ 

phasis in the popular tradition. Too often perhaps the severe 

penalties imposed by Virginia’s general assembly between 

1660 and 1663 upon shipmasters who brought Quakers and 

“other separatists” into the colony, and upon those who wor¬ 

shipped outside the Anglican Church or refused to have their 

children baptized, have been dismissed simply as an expres¬ 

sion of a prejudice common to the age.34 

At the end of what may be described perhaps as the great 

migration to Virginia, the effect of Bacon’s Rebellion seems 

to be clearly enough marked out for our attention, though it 

has to be observed that a sharp decline in the migration 

apparently preceded the rebellion itself. One can only won¬ 

der at the failure of three successive Anglo-Dutch wars to 

leave more of a mark in the record, unless it be assumed that 

the sharp drop in the figures after 1674 reflects the influence 

of the third of these wars. The figures for the last quarter of 

the century carry more than one suggestion as to the pos¬ 

sible influence of political developments in England, and 

especially those which indicate an increased migration to 

Virginia during the closing years of Charles II’s reign, a time 

which witnessed a decided increase in the migration from 
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England to Carolina and the beginning of the great Quaker 

migration to the Delaware. But on this general point perhaps 

enough has been said. 

The most interesting possibility for a significant correla¬ 

tion with developments in the homeland has nothing what¬ 

soever to do with politics, or with the religious issues that are 

so central to an understanding of the century’s constitutional 

crises. It is found in a recent charting by W. G. Hoskins of 

English harvests from 1620 to the middle of the eighteenth 

century, a study which is a sequel to a similar charting of 

harvests extending back into the sixteenth century.35 If at¬ 

tention may be limited here to the period of our immediate 

concern, Professor Hoskins’s study shows that the decade of 

the 1630s brought only one good harvest instead of the nor¬ 

mal four in ten. The first half of the 1640s saw a decided 

improvement, but the harvest of 1646 marked the beginning 

of a five-year run of bad harvests. Cromwell’s years were gen¬ 

erally years of bountiful harvests, but another run of five 

successive crop failures began in 1657. On the eve of the 

harvest of 1662, as Professor Hoskins points out, English 

farmers had experienced within the preceding decade and a 

half no less than ten crop failures, and in 1661 the price of 

bread reached its highest level for the entire period covered 

by his study. Improvement came with 1662, and the years 

extending from 1665 through 1672 saw seven good harvests 

out of eight, as did also the years reaching from 1683 through 

1690. The record for the 1670s was mixed. In the final decade 

of the century English farmers once again had the hard luck 

of harvesting only one really good yield. The correlation is 

by no means exact, but certainly the ten crop failures at 

mid-century, in which each five-year succession immediately 

preceded an apparently decided acceleration in the migration 

to Virginia, deserves emphasis. If there be a question regard¬ 

ing the migration’s continuance through years of plenty, it 

may be well to recall that American history afFords more 
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than one example of migrations sustained over a significant 

period of time by their own momentum. 

It is difficult even to suggest the influence economic con¬ 

ditions in the colony may have had, except that the evidently 

marked decline of the migration after 1674 could reflect the 

hard times of which the colonists bitterly complained on the 

eve of Bacon’s Rebellion. Nor is it easier to find an answer 

to the other side of the question, which is the effect of the 

migration upon the colony’s economy. Normally an im¬ 

migration of proportions at all comparable with that to Vir¬ 

ginia at this time had a stimulating effect upon a colony’s 

economy, as earlier in New England and later in Pennsyl¬ 

vania, but in the case of Virginia the evidence so far as¬ 

sembled points chiefly to three major crises in which the 

colonists struggled none too successfully with the problems 

arising from an overproduction of tobacco, first in 1639-40, 

next in the mid-i66os, and finally in 1682-83. The price of 

tobacco seems to have fluctuated throughout the period of 

the great migration, being better at its beginning than sub¬ 

sequently. Only in the later years of the century does it ap¬ 

pear that the dominant trend turned upward.36 It is con¬ 

ceivable, however, that historians depending heavily for 

their sources upon protests against the restrictions imposed 

by the Navigation Acts, and ever anxious to find an expla¬ 

nation for Bacon’s Rebellion, have drawn a darker picture 

of economic conditions in Virginia through the third quar¬ 

ter of the century than is warranted. 

Mention must be made of a flurry of promotional litera¬ 

ture issued at mid-century which promised an early diversifi¬ 

cation of the colony’s economy, and of the leadership taken 

in Virginia by such men as Sir William Berkeley or Edward 

Digges in experiments looking to the development of new 

staples.37 It should be remembered that the extraordinary 

success attending the conversion to sugar in Barbados gave 

fresh stimulation to old hopes for the production of a wide 
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variety of profitable commodities in the plantations, and 

that even in the West Indies there were men who quickly 

identified the more hopeful of such prospects with the main¬ 

land, notably those to whom the original proposal for a 

settlement in Carolina has been traced. Evidence that some 

of Virginia’s immigrants came from the West Indies or 

Bermuda must also be noted, but there can be no doubt 

that the migration owed its impressive size to the far larger 

number who migrated directly from England.38 And after all 

is said, it was tobacco that made the migration possible. How¬ 

ever depressed may have been the prices paid the planters, 

the value of their annual crop for purposes of trade, in Eng¬ 

land or elsewhere, was high enough to bring to Virginia in 

some years as many as eighty or more ships.39 Students of 

other great migrations to America frequently have discovered 

that the opportunity to migrate, to find a ready passage across 

the Atlantic, can be the critical factor, and so it was with the 

great migration to Virginia. 

A recent doctoral dissertation submitted at Princeton by 

Robert Brenner has substantially extended our knowledge 

of the men who at mid-century held the lead in the trade 

with Virginia as with other colonies.40 He has described 

them aptly as the “new merchants,” for they had been quite 

literally pioneers in the development of a new branch of 

England’s overseas trade. The opportunity they seized de¬ 

pended not only upon the expanding number of colonizing 

ventures after 1624, but also upon the marked indifference 

to that opportunity of the great merchants of London, those 

holding membership in the corporations controlling the trade 

with such areas as Moscovy, the Levant, or the East Indies. 

The city’s mercantile establishment, of course, had been sig¬ 

nificantly represented (especially by Sir Thomas Smith) in 

the initial efforts to establish a colony in Virginia, but the 

experience seems to have taught most of its members to avoid 

such ventures thereafter. 

The new merchants were for the most part men of obscure 
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origins. Perhaps the point that most needs to be made is that 

some of the more successful of them enjoyed the advantage 

of a firsthand acquaintance with the colonies, either as ship¬ 

masters or as actual settlers. Thus, Maurice Thompson, who 

by 1650 had become the most influential of the new mer¬ 

chants, evidently went first to Virginia in 1617, possibly as 

a shipmaster. His close associate and brother-in-law, William 

Tucker, had migrated to Virginia as early as 1610. He sat 

as a burgess in the first assembly of 1619, became a member 

of the council in 1623, an<^ 411 the census of 1625 showed a 

muster on his property in Elizabeth City of eighteen persons 

in addition to his wife and child.41 Among the eighteen were 

three younger brothers of Thompson who had come over 

with Mrs. Tucker in 1623. Tucker remained active in the 

affairs of the colony well into the 1630s and in 1636 he and 

his brother-in-law were among the associates who purchased 

the very considerable property of Berkeley Hundred.42 Ulti¬ 

mately, he transferred his residence to London, where he was 

living at the time of the Civil War. In reading Professor 

Brenner’s study one thinks ahead to the business relationship 

between John Jeffreys of London and Richard Lee of Vir¬ 

ginia, or the history of the Carey family, first of Bristol, then 

of London, and later of London and Virginia.43 

The newly developing trade with the colonies was a free 

trade, in the sense that there was no corporate control for 

the purpose of restricting participation, which became 

widespread. Merchants of many different port cities had a 

part in it, but from the beginning until past the end of the 

century London held the dominant position. The point re¬ 

quires emphasis because some writers have assumed that at 

least in the trade with Virginia Bristol held the lead at mid¬ 

century, an assumption supported neither by the concrete 

evidence we have as to the size of the migration from that 

port to Virginia, which certainly was a small part of the 

whole, nor by such records of tobacco imports into England 

as have survived.44 The point deserves emphasis also be- 
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cause it has a bearing on the question of the geographical 

areas in England from which Virginia drew its original pop¬ 

ulation. On this question, the fullest evidence is once again 

that provided in the record kept by Bristol, and this shows 

that all sections of England were represented among the 

emigrants sailing for the plantations from that port, but that 

by far the larger part of them were westcountrymen.45 Given 

this indication of the influence of proximity to the port of 

embarkation and London’s leadership in the trade with the 

Chesapeake, it seems safe enough to conclude that although 

emigrants to Virginia might hail from any county in the 

kingdom, most of them came either from London or the 

so-called home counties lying immediately in its neighbor¬ 

hood.46 It may be worth adding that Hugh Jones in 1724 

described the speech of the Virginia colonists as being the 

speech of London.47 

Both Professor Brenner and the late Richard Pares have 

demonstrated that the merchants trading with the colonies 

did not limit their activity merely to trade. Engaged in a 

trade that was basically one of supply and that repeatedly 

involved extensions of credit, they might find it a natural 

development of their interest to become promoters of settle¬ 

ment by providing a settler, or prospective settler, with a 

needed stake on some form of partnership agreement. Al¬ 

though the terms of such agreements varied, the mutual ad¬ 

vantages remained much the same. The planter received a 

supply of servants, provisions, equipment, and perhaps land 

well beyond what his own means could have provided; the 

merchant assured himself of a right to market an increased 

share of the colony’s crop and gained a measure of protection 

against what Professor Pares has described as “the chief risk 

in all colonial enterprise” by making his agent in the colony 

a partner 48 Until further research lias been undertaken, it is 

impossible to say how much this kind of promotional effort 

may have been involved in the great acceleration of the mi- 
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gration to Virginia at mid-century.49 But it can be added that 

by 1650 a number of Professor Brenner’s “new merchants” 

had won their way to positions of great influence and power. 

It has long been known, of course, that Maurice Thompson 

had a major role in the enactment of the Navigation Acts, 

both those of Cromwell and the act which followed in 1660.50 

Now, if it can be agreed, as I think it should be, that the 

migration to seventeenth-century Virginia was much more 

heavily concentrated in the third quarter of the century than 

has formerly been believed, the implications for a reading of 

the colony’s early history are far-reaching indeed. Above 

all, it has to be assumed that Virginia’s population remained 

until remarkably late in the century predominantly an im¬ 

migrant population, and that only in the last quarter of the 

jcentury could a natural increase have begun to overtake 

limmigration as the dominant factor determining the size of 

/the population. Such is the conclusion that has to be reached 

if in fact, as the data drawn from the land patents indicate, 

the number of immigrants before 1650 was smaller than we 

have thought, if the great migration which followed did not 

reach its peak until well into the 1660s, and if the frequently 

(used contemporary estimates which place the population 

in 1649 at fifteen thousand and at forty thousand in 1671 

are anywhere near the fact.51 It is impossible even to suggest 

just when after 1675 the immigrant and native-born elements 

of the population may have reached a balance, much less to 

determine when the latter became the dominant element. 

But the great size of the migration during the third quarter 

pf the century and the evidence of a marked decline in im¬ 

migration thereafter, including evidence of the extraordinary 

[corruptions to which the land records then became subject, 

[argue that by 1700, or even before, most of the people living 

in Virginia may have been born there. 

I hope that these observations will not be considered ex¬ 

cessively hedged about with reservations. The subject is a 
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difficult one and as yet has been little studied. It may be 

instructive to consider here the contrast between the esti¬ 

mated populations of Virginia and of New England at the 

end of the century. According to generally accepted estimates, 

the population of Virginia in 1700 was about sixty thou¬ 

sand, including Negroes, and that of New England ninety 

thousand, a total that would be higher if the descendants of 

the original Puritan settlers then living on Long Island and 

in East Jersey were included.52 Even after estimates of the 

full migration to seventeenth-century Virginia have been 

reduced to brine: them into closer accord with the evidence 

offered by the land patents, it seems possible that there were 

no more people living in the colony at the end of the century 

than had migrated there during its course, if as many. In 

contrast, the great Puritan migration of just over twenty 

thousand persons, which had ended not long after 1640 and 

apparently had not been followed by any numerically sig-. 

nificant migration, was represented at the end of the century I 

by a population some four times the size of the original 

migration.53 The explanation for this contrast lies partly 

in a factor of time. In 1700 almost two full generations had 

passed since the end of the great Puritan migration, whereas 

in Virginia the time elapsed since the end of a much larger 

migration had yet to reach the standard allotment for a 

single generation. 

But probably of much greater importance was a decided 

difference in the sex ratios of the two migrations. It is, of 

course, the number of females of childbearing age which 

determines in any population its potential for a natural 

growth, and on this question we have rather specific if in¬ 

complete information. Herbert Moller in a very useful study 

some years back concluded that in the original migration to 

New England the approximate ratio was three males for 

every two females.54 In contrast, lie found that the adult 

population of Virginia in 1625, as shown by the census of 

that year, had a sex ratio of almost four to one, that lists 
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of over two thousand emigrants sailing from London for 

Virginia in 1635 revealed the even more adverse ratio of 

just above six to one, and that the registry of servants de¬ 

parting Bristol for Virginia after 1654 indicated a ratio of 

308.3, which is to say a little more than three to one. My 

own test through a sample drawn from Nugent’s Cavaliers 

and Pioneers indicates that the ratio for the full migration 

at mid-century could have been higher, but not so much so 

as to argue against the convenience of using here Moller’s 

figures roughly translated into a ratio of three to one.* Such 

a ratio bespeaks a decided improvement since the earlier 

years of the century, but obviously the emphasis still belongs 

to a continuing imbalance of the sexes, so much so that it 

may be helpful to translate a three-to-one ratio into other 

terms. If the rough total of 47,000 headrights for the third 

quarter of the century can be used to determine the size of 

the overall migration to Virginia during that period, the 

number of females included in the migration at a ratio of 

three to one would have been less than 12,000. Given the na¬ 

ture of the record provided by the land patents, there prob¬ 

ably were considerably less than 12,000 females migrat¬ 

ing to Virginia at this time. Most of them presumably were 

of a childbearing age, but most of them also presumably 

were bound to a period of service that would postpone their 

prospects of marriage. Moreover, in 1674 many of them had 

only recently reached the colony. 

How long the average delay of marriage may have been, 

or how far the delay’s effect upon the size of the population 

may have been offset by illegitimate births, are questions 

that will have to be left to some student caught up by the 

current enthusiasm for demographic history and possessed 

of the courage to try his hand in the field of seventeenth- 

* A sample of 4,272 headrights for white immigrants drawn from 72 

different pages, selected at random and representing in time the years 

extending from 1648 to 16(56, in Nugent's Cavaliers and Pioneers yielded 

the following results: 3.305 males, 967 females, for a ratio of 341.7. 
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century Virginia.55 He will be faced by formidable difficul¬ 

ties, but whatever he can find will be most welcome. We 

know practically nothing regarding such basic questions as 

the age of marriage, size of family, or life expectancy in 

seventeenth-century Virginia, and can only be warned by 

studies of other areas—chiefly New England—w'hich have 

significantly modified assumptions historians long have re¬ 

garded as dependable. Thus, the average age of marriage in 

colonial America seems to have been younger than it was 

in contemporary Europe, but not so young as tradition has 

placed it. Similarly, the colonial family apparently was larger 

than the average at that time in Europe, but not nearly so 

large as we have often thought.56 Although much attention 

has been devoted to the extraordinary mortality suffered by 

the earliest emigrants to Virginia, it remains impossible to 

speak with certainty on the probable death rate among new 

arrivals later in the century. Such evidence as we have argues 

that the “seasoning” period, as the colonists described the 

first year of adjustment, still could be difficult but usually 

was not fatal.57 

Until these and other fundamental questions have been 

more fully explored, we presumably should restrain what¬ 

ever impulse we may feel to talk of developments in the latter 

half of the century in terms of what might be expected of a 

second or third generation of Virginians. Presumably, too, 

the statistics assembled by Philip Alexander Bruce to dem¬ 

onstrate a high level of literacy among the colonists—high, 

that is, by comparison with what is known of literacy in 

contemporary England—speak less of the provisions made 

for education in seventeenth-century Virginia than of the 

educational advantages enjoyed by those who migrated there 

at the time.58 That social and political unrest should have 

profoundly disturbed the colony during the last quarter of 

the century need not surprise us, for the spectacular growth 

Virginia recently had experienced hardly could have failed 

to have its unsettling effects. 
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Perhaps the chief need is to place the great migration to 

Virginia in the context of the even greater migration from 

England to seventeenth-century America, beginning at 

Jamestown in 1607 and ending with the settlement of 

Pennsylvania as the century drew toward its close. Those 

who would understand its full history may well ask where in 

the middle of the seventeenth century an Englishman in¬ 

clined to migrate to America could have readily gone? There 

was shipping enough to carry him to the West Indies, but 

there a rapid conversion to slave labor must have limited the 

prospect he saw. New England, disappointed in the failure 

of England, even of the English Puritans in their moment 

of triumph, to rally to the standard it had set, had adopted 

an exclusive attitude toward all but its own kind. New York, 

even after the English conquest, remained Dutch. The 

Carolina venture was extraordinarily slow to get off the 

ground, and its leaders at first had a very limited interest 

in encouraging a migration from England. There remain 

Virginia and its Chesapeake neighbor, Maryland. 

In conclusion, let me return to the question posed at the 

beginning of this discussion. Who was this Englishman who 

migrated to Virginia, more often than not in the third quar¬ 

ter of the seventeenth century? If I have read the evidence 

correctly, he was young but not a child; he may have come 

from any part of England but in most instances probably, 

from the southeastern section of the kingdom. His religious 

convictions might speak for any of the divergences of opin¬ 

ion that beset the English church in that century but in the 

act of migrating he belonged to no organized religious move¬ 

ment. As for bis political opinions, he may have supported 

the king, he may have backed parliament, even Cromwell, 

or he may simply have displayed the ambivalence of attitude 

which so many men through the course of history have shown 

when living in the midst of a revolution. Certainly, he was 

rarely a zealot. Primarily, he was an adventurer, and in the 

fullest sense of the word, a man seeking the main chance for 
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himself in that part of the new world which at the moment 

seemed to offer for him the best chance. 
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RED 

PERHAPS I can best begin this discussion of the Red 

Virginian by observing that Captain John Smith de¬ 

scribed the native inhabitants of the Chesapeake area 

as being “of a colour browne.”1 Arthur Barlow, scouting 

the upper coast of Carolina for Sir Walter Raleigh in 1584, 

thought the Indians there were of a “yellowish’’ complex¬ 

ion, and John White’s justly famous paintings of the 

Carolina natives give them a distinctly yellowish brown ^ 

coloring.2 William Strachey, who came to Virginia in 1610 

as the colony’s secretary, also described the Indians as “gen¬ 

erally of a Coulour browne,” but on second thought he sub¬ 

stituted in his Historie of Travell into Virginia Britania 

the word tawny, and finally he declared that the nearest he * 

could come to describing the general complexion ol the In¬ 

dian was to liken it to the color of “a sodden Quince.’ He * 

explained, citing Smith, that the child at birth was an in¬ 

different white,” and that the tawny effect was achieved by 

the persistent application from infancy of natural dyes 

mixed with walnut oil and bear’s grease. He commented also 

upon the decorative painting of the body by the adult In¬ 

dians, men and women, and upon their special fondness of 

a red dye taken from the Virginia pokeberry for the painting*, 

of shoulders and the head.3 But that practice did not make 

the Indian a red man in Strachey’s view, nor did it apparently 

in the view of any other Englishman who came to the colony 

during the period of our immediate concern. I have seen no 

description of the Indian in seventeenth-century Virginia 

that differs significantly from those already mentioned. In 

1705 Robert Beverley would write in a famous account of 

the colony’s natives: “Their Colour, when they are grown 
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up, is a Chestnut brown and tawny; but much clearer in their 

Infancy.4 

r The subject of the Indian’s color was one of very great 

interest to Europeans at the time of Virginia’s first settlement 

and for many years thereafter. Their interest was all the 

greater because a long favored belief that the African’s black¬ 

ness was attributable to the effect of the tropical sun had 

been called into question by the discovery that Indians living 

also in the tropical zone had a different color. No single view 

prevailed, but certainly one underlying consideration affect¬ 

ing the European’s approach to the problem was a need to 

find some explanation that fitted with the Biblical concept 

of creation and the belief that all mankind had a common 

origin. For the black African there was a simple solution in 

the curse of Ham, but the distinctive coloring of the Indian 

presented a question comparable in its difficulty to that of 

explaining his very presence in America.5 Again, no single 

view prevailed, but there was a strong persuasion toward 

acceptance of the conclusion that somehow since Biblical 

times the Indian had come to America by way of Asia, a 

conclusion which conforms well enough with opinions held 

for quite different reasons by modern scholars as to the 

probability that the North American Indian originally was 

an immigrant from Asia.6 As with the question of the In¬ 

dian’s origins, so it was that on the question of his color the 

view best suited to the European’s preconceptions was one 

holding that the native American was born white and 

that the distinctive complexion of his skin was artificially 

< achieved. 

The point can hardly be made without a further comment 

upon the extent to which our knowledge of Virginia’s orig¬ 

inal inhabitants depends upon the picture handed dowm to 

us by the European settler or his predecessors in the ex¬ 

ploration of the general area. There is no time for consid¬ 

eration of other ways in which the picture may have been 
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distorted by the European’s preconceptions, but the ques¬ 

tion must always be kept in mind. 

is difficult to determine just when the Indian became 

the Redman. Evidently, it was at some time after the term 

Redskin had come into usage, and the earliest example of 

that usage given in the two great dictionaries of our lan¬ 

guage that have been compiled on historical principles falls 

in 1699, and in New England.7 Because the Indian may have 

become a Redman at about the time of his elevation by 

Europeans to the status of a noble savage, one can wonder 

if some symbolical association with the color red had its 

influence, and this would seem to be quite possible.8 But 

there can be little doubt that the usage is attributable orig¬ 

inally to the predominance of red, as the colonist saw it, 

in the “warpaint” the Indian put on before taking to the 

“warpath.” It thus serves, or it should, to remind us of the 

tragic failure of the two peoples to find a way of living 

/ peaceably together. 

The story of the Indian in seventeenth-century Virginia 

is above all the story of a challenge to the white man’s in¬ 

trusion that is remarkable for the promptness with which it 

was made in the so-called massacre of 1622, for its renewal 

twenty-two years later in an attack which possibly cost the 

English more lives than had the earlier assault, and for the 

completeness of the defeat that had been inflicted upon the 

natives by mid-century. Elsewhere there were Indian wars 

which broke the peace of colonial communities at a com¬ 

parably early time in their history. One thinks of the Pequot 

War in New England and Governor Kieft’s War in New 

Netherland, but in neither of these instances can it be said 

that the war represented a concerted attempt by the Indians 

immediately affected by the presence of a white settlement 

to destroy that settlement. In the one instance Governor 

Kieft himself can be viewed as the aggressor, though not 

without some provocation from his foes, and in New Eng- 
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land the Pequots were almost as much intruders as were 

the Puritan settlers, who seem generally to have fought the 

war with the friendly regard of other Indians in the area.9 

Nor can it be said that in either instance the victory won 

by the Europeans had quite so decisive an effect upon the 

colonists’ subsequent relations with Indians as did the vic¬ 

tory sealed by the peace of 1646 in Virginia. 

The difference is explained, first of all, by the simple but 

often overlooked fact that the Virginia colony had been 

planted in the midst of one of the more powerful Indian 

communities situated along the eastern seaboard of North 

America. Not until the settlement of South Carolina in 1670 

did an English colony find itself located in an area where 

the natives in their political development wrere comparably 

advanced, and even then the more powerful of the south¬ 

eastern nations were a considerable distance away from 

Charles Town. In Maryland, the potent Susquehannahs, 

living along the river that still bears their name, were more 

or less comfortably removed from Lord Baltimore’s original 

settlement just off the Potomac, and the problem of Indian 

policy had a relatively easy solution in the alliance with the 

Susquehannahs that held from mid-century to their dis¬ 

persal by the Senecas on the eve of Bacon's Rebellion. The 

Dutch at New Amsterdam were surrounded by Indians, but 

these were divided by many jealousies, and the Dutch out¬ 

post of trade and settlement that became Albany stood out¬ 

side the lands occupied by the powerful Iroquois, who held 

the area reaching westward from the juncture of the Mohawk 

River with the Hudson. In the immediate environs of the 

newly established Boston, war and epidemic disease had 

almost destroyed the Indians. The Wampanoags, remem¬ 

bered chiefly for the friendship they showed the Pilgrim 

Fathers and for their chief King Philip, who after half a 

century mounted a truly serious challenge to the presence 

of the Puritans in New England, also had been weakened by 

the great plague which struck the Massachusetts Bay area 



some four years before the Pilgrims landed. The more pow¬ 

erful of the Indians in New England at the beginning of 

Puritan settlement were the Abnaki in Maine, the Pequots 

in the Connecticut Valley, and the Narragansetts living west 

of the bay which took its name from them.10 For the purpose 

of emphasizing a significant contrast, it may not be too much 

to suggest that the situation of Jamestown in 1607 was some¬ 

what comparable to what might be imagined had the Dutch 

settled first on the Mohawk River, some distance along the 

way between Albany and Buffalo. 

The Virginia colonists did not find it easy to describe the u 

government of their Indian neighbors. Even so. Captain 

Smith, in his attempt to translate what he had observed of 

it into familiar European terms, seems to have done rather 

well, better perhaps than did Thomas Jefferson, who has 

been credited with being the first to describe the union over 

which Powhatan presided as a “Confederacy.”11 Smith said . 

in 1612:/“Although the countrie people be very barbarous,_ 

yet haue they amongst them such governement, as that their 

Magistrats for good commanding, and their people for du 

subiection, and obeying, excell many places that would be 

counted very civill. The forme of their Common wealth is 

a monarchical! gouernement, one as JEmperour ruleth ouer 

many kings or governours.’T Powhatan, Smith’s “Emperour,” ? 

apparently had inherited the ride of six tribes, if I may use 

the familiar though not altogether exact designation, and by 

force or the threat of force had brought the number of tribes 

under his sway to something like thirty.13 His own residence 

seems to have been situated on the York River above Glou¬ 

cester Point, at no great distance across the peninsula from 

the newly built fort at Jamestown. As with other such gov¬ 

ernments known to history, his power at any given time 

probably varied in proportion to the distance from his 

Geographically, Powhatan’s claim to jurisdiction covered 

most of tidewater Virginia. From the south side of the James 
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it extended northward to the Potomac, and included two 

tribes of the lower Eastern Shore. He and his people be¬ 

longed to the Algonkian-speaking family which occupied 

the coastal areas from upper Carolina to New England and 

well beyond. It seems to be agreed that their presence in 

Virginia and Carolina represents a relatively recent south¬ 

ward push from the main area of Algonkian occupation. 

Modern estimates of the total population under Powhatan’s 

rule have ranged between eight and nine thousand. Captain 

Smith, whose reports serve as the main base for these esti¬ 

mates, declared that there were 5,000 Indians living within 

sixty miles of Jamestown, including possibly 1,500 warriors. 

Considered by itself the number is not too impressive, but it 

becomes much more so when one is reminded that an au¬ 

thoritative estimate indicates that the five Iroquois nations 

never could have mustered more than 2,500 warriors, or 

that the Virginia colony had its beginning with just over 

100 men and boys.14 However approximate may have been 

Smith’s figures, the advantage in terms of manpower ob¬ 

viously belonged to Powhatan. 

Why then did he not strike at once? Why, indeed, after 

more than seven years of an uneasy relationship between the 

two peoples, a relationship marked more than once by open 

expressions of mutual suspicion and hostility, did he make 

peace with the English, a peace still holding at the time of 

his death in 1618? The question becomes the more insistent 

if one accepts the suggestion that through a variety of con¬ 

tacts, including possibly a Spanish mission in the Chesapeake 

area, and almost certainly through some knowledge of the 

Indian’s experience with Raleigh’s settlers at Roanoke 

Island, Powhatan and his people had learned to hate the 

white man before the Jamestown colonists arrived.15 

First mention perhaps belongs to the relative weakness of 

the English. Certainly, it cannot be assumed that the quar¬ 

relsome band of men who landed at Jamestown late in the 

spring of 1607 was necessarily viewed by Powhatan as a 
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serious menace. Nor can it be said that the rate at which the 

Virginia colony thereafter grew was such as to give him an 

unmistakable warning of what lay ahead. Nine years after 

the first settlement, and only two years before Powhatan’s 

death, the colony numbered no more than three hundred 

and fifty men, women, and children. Moreover, the inter¬ 

vening years had been for the English a time of great mis¬ 

fortune, in which more than once the simple misery of V 

hunger had been relieved only through a trade for food with 

the Indians. 

Powhatan may have been impressed by the European gun, 

as the Virginia adventurers had intended all Indians to be 

when instructing the first settlers never to fire their weapons 

in the presence of the Indian without depending upon their 

most expert marksmen.16 The instruction could have been 

partly a precaution against the inaccuracy of the seventeenth- 

century musket, which some have considered to be in that 

regard inferior to the bow and arrow, but its firing never¬ 

theless had a frightening effect upon the natives, and every¬ 

where in colonial America they came to covet it and in time 

to possess it.17 The palisaded fort at Jamestown, though 

built with a view primarily to defense against a European 

foe, afforded its own special protection, but it probably ^ 

coidd not have withstood a native attack in full force, es¬ 

pecially when its defenders were weakened by the internal 

strife and demoralization which frequently beset them. One 

has to be impressed by the relative freedom with which the 

English moved in small units about their several tasks. 

It has been suggested that Powhatan actually may have 

viewed the arrival of the English at Jamestown as a develop¬ 

ment of potential advantage to him.18 Much of his extensive 

empire had been recently acquired, and some of it by meth¬ 

ods hardly to be described as gentle. He ruled as a despot, 

and faced the risk that disgruntled subordinates might seek 

to use the English against him There was a chance, more¬ 

over, that the colonists might make common cause with 
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enemies of his who lived west of the fall line, an area in 

which the English, hopeful of finding a passage leading to 

the Orient, promptly showed a special interest. Any such 

apprehension would have been by no means groundless. 

Although the Virginia adventurers at first had favored a 

policy of alliance with neighboring Indians against their 

more distantly situated foes, they substituted the advice to 

Sir Thomas Gates in 1609 that Powhatan’s tribes, each and 

all of them, be made tributary dependencies, and that friend¬ 

ship be cultivated with his enemies, the chief of whom were 

specifically named.19 

There is some reason for believing that at about the same 

time Powhatan also decided upon a new policy. This ap¬ 

parently is when he moved his principal residence to the 

upper part of the Virginia Peninsula, thereby putting a 

r greater distance between himself and Jamestown. It is diffi¬ 

cult to interpret his stance theretofore in terms other than 

one of watchful waiting. In the story that has come down to 

us two incidents stand out. The one records Powhatan’s re¬ 

fusal to kneel for acceptance of a copper crown brought from 

England by Christopher Newport for his coronation, whether 

through ignorance of what was expected or a shrewd aware¬ 

ness of what was implied.20 The other is the saving of Cap¬ 

tain Smith’s life by Pocahontas. While there may remain 

some doubt that the incident actually occurred, Philip Bar¬ 

bour recently has offered a very interesting suggestion that 

the scene made so familiar to all of us through many re¬ 

countings was ceremonial, a token of Smith’s adoption into 

the tribe borrowed perhaps from the puberty rites followed 

in the young male’s induction into full standing as a member 

of the tribe, but with the emperor’s daughter in this instance 

assigned the starring role. Whatever may be the fact, after 

1609 the Indian’s resistance became more open and deadly, 

and from the surviving record it becomes increasingly diffi¬ 

cult to determine just where Powhatan was, a fact suggest¬ 

ing a deliberate attempt to keep the knowledge from the 
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English.21 It may be well to remember that the Indian method 

of warfare depended more heavily upon the tactics of mo¬ 

bility and attrition than upon the direct assault in full 

force that is intended to bring a prompt and decisive victory. 

In other words, the North American native was willing to 

outwait his enemies, meanwhile punishing them whenever 

and wherever he could and denying to them an opportunity 

to retaliate. It was a strategem the English quickly associated 1 

with stealth and other unflattering terms. 

The peace that came in 1614 is difficult to interpret. No 

document has survived purporting to state the terms of any 

formal agreement that may have been reached. Secretary 

Ralph Hamor’s True Discourse remains the chief source 

of our information regarding the peace and this leaves the 

distinct impression that it depended upon nothing more 

than the following sequence of developments: the abduction 

of Pocahontas by Samuel Argali in 1613; a subsequent show 

of force by the English and a threat to use more force; the 

marriage with Powhatan’s consent of Pocahontas to John 

Rolfe; and a final mission by Hamor himself, bearing gifts 

and a proposal for the marriage of another of the chieftain’s 

daughters to Sir Thomas Dale, which ended with a refusal of 

the marriage offer and a message from Powhatan to Dale that 

“hee need not distrust any iniurie from me or my people; . . . 

for I am now old, and would gladly end my claies in peace.”22 v 

And so it may have been, for Hamor goes into specific detail 

on the conditions of a peace subsequently negotiated with 

the Chickahominy Indians, not the most loyal of Powhatan’s 

people and now apparently fearful of isolation in a new and 

dangerous political situation.23 Thus we are left with some 

right to continue believing in a peace sealed, in the best 

European manner, by the favorite romantic union of early 

American history. 

It is difficult to believe, however, that Powhatan allowed 

sentimental considerations to influence his decision unduly, 

if indeed he allowed them any influence at all. He had a 
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way of coming up with a favorite daughter whenever it was 

convenient, as when he advised Hamor that the young lady 

proposed for marriage to Dale was of all his many children 

the one who delighted him most. He was getting old, perhaps 

then past sixty, but there is no indication that he had lost 

any of the subtle understanding so frequently credited to 

him by the English with whom he dealt. The exchanges with 

Hamor remind one very much of those recorded by Smith, 

who obviously, even when some discount is made for the 

captain’s desire to enhance his own reputation, had great 

respect for Powhatan. The war had been costly to the Indians 

as well as to the English. The suit for peace by the powerful 

Chickahominys argues both that Powhatan had a need to 

consolidate his own authority and that he was still feared by 

his fellows. Perhaps he was influenced by the declining 

strength of the English colony, or perhaps he had made a 

realistic assessment of the persistence with which the London 

adventurers continued to supply their colony despite re¬ 

peated misfortunes, and so had given up whatever hope he 

originally may have had that the colonists, like Raleigh’s 

people, sooner or later would abandon their efforts and go 

away. Perhaps, above all, he wanted to renew a trade with 

the English. 

His people had a relatively sophisticated economy. It de¬ 

pended basically upon agriculture—a point of very great im¬ 

portance for an understanding of much that was to follow, 

not to mention much of the Southern diet down to the pres¬ 

ent day—and the foodstuff they grew was richly supplemented 

by hunting and fishing. The three crops of Indian corn they 

cultivated each year was for the European one of the marvels 

of the New World.24 Any suggestion that they were an im¬ 

provident people, living from hand to mouth and lacking 

provision for the storage of a surplus production, is easily 

dismissed simply by recalling the number of occasions on 

which the colonists, both at Roanoke Island and James¬ 

town, were fed by corn secured from the Indians at different 
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seasons of the year. Their hunting for the wild turkey, the 

beaver, and especially the deer, which supplied in addition 

to its meat important items for clothing and even for tools, 

could be a highly organized communal enterprise pursued 

with such perseverance that the English found early oc¬ 

casions to comment upon the scarcity of deer in the lower/ 

part of the Virginia Peninsula.25 As for their fishing, they 

ate a variety of seafood as great as the methods they employed 

in catching it by use of the weir, the net, the fishhook, the'/ 

spear, and the arrow. Their “canoes,” not the birch-covered 

canoe of the more northerly situated Indians but a vessel 

shaped out of a single log, might carry, according to Smith, * 

as many as 40 men apiece.26 The implements they had con¬ 

trived showed much sophistication, some of them being 

quite similar in form and function to the more familiar 

tools of the European, but they were not made of metal. The 

one metal they seem to have had was copper, which was 

highly prized but apparently used only for ornamental 

purposes.27 

In our textbooks, discussions of the early trade with the 

Indians tend to feature an exchange of beads and other 

“trifles” for the corn which at times quite literally kept the 

colonists from starving. It is true enough that the Indian was 

fond of ornamentation, and that he frequently took beads 

for his corn, but he also had a sharp eye for things of more/ 

substance the Englishman possessed. Captain Smith com¬ 

plained that, before he took over as president of the colony 

in 1608, “of 2. or 300 hatchets, chissels, mattocks, and pick-r 

axes scarce 20 could be found” within six or seven week*/ 

after the departure for England of the ship bringing the 

supply, and he attributed this largely to pilfering for the pur- $ 

poses of a private trade with the Indians. In 1612, afte/ 

describing the native tomahawk and its use as a weapon, he 

added: “This they were wont to vse also for hatchets, but 

now by trucking they haue plenty of the same forme of 

yron.” William Strachey, speaking of this same weapon and 
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tool, declared that “now by trucking with vs, they haue 

thowsandes of our Iron hatchetts such as they be.’’28 This 

last phrase is rather intriguing. I have no evidence that the 

English at this early date were making a cheap hatchet for 

the Indian market, as much later they would a cheap gun, 

but it does sound as though not all of the hatchets shipped 

to Virginia were of the best grade. 

It probably is too early in our story to begin talking of 

the Indian’s rapid transition from the Stone Age to the Iron 

Age, and of the potentially destructive effect of this transition 

upon his own culture. No doubt the emphasis here belongs 

to the native’s quick awareness of the advantages he might 

enjoy by drawing upon the superior technology of the Euro¬ 

pean. When Ralph Hamor went on his mission to Powhatan 

he carried as presents from Dale two large pieces of copper, 

five strings of white and blue beads, five wooden combs, ten 

fishhooks, a pair of knives, and the promise of a “great grind¬ 

ing stone.” On his return to Jamestown he brought what 

amounted to an order from Powhatan, with the promise of 

payment in skins, for ten pieces of copper, “a shauing knife, 

an iron frow to cleaue hordes,” a grindstone not larger than 

could be carried by four or five men, two bone combs (Pow¬ 

hatan advised that his own men could make wooden combs), 

one hundred fishhooks, or if it could be spared, “rather a 

fishing saine,” a cat, and a dog.29 

After this, little more is heard of Powhatan except as the 

father of the more famous of his most cherished daughters, 

who in 1616 moved to center-stage in a well managed visit 

to England. Samuel Argali reported in 1617 that he had 

gone to the Potomac, leaving the government to Opechan- 

canough and “his other brother,” and early in 1618 that he 

“goes from place to place visiting his Country taking his 

pleasure in good friendship with us.” In the following June, 

John Rolfe reported that Powhatan had died in the preced¬ 

ing April, that his brother Opitchapan had succeeded him. 
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and that both “hee and Opechancanough haue confirmed 

our former league.”30 

Opechancanough, who quickly became Powhatan’s real 

successor, remains a very shadowy figure, despite the fact 

that the leaders of the colony from Captain Smith forward 

repeatedly had dealt with him as a half-brother in whom 

the emperor placed a special confidence, and as head of the 

Pamunkeys, one of the original tribes owing allegiance to 

Powhatan and perhaps the most powerful. There may or 

may not be an element of truth in the tradition, apparently 

first recorded by Robert Beverley, that he actually was an 

outsider who had come “a great Way from the South-West.” 

More to the point is Beverley’s description of him as “a Man 

of large stature, noble Presence, and extraordinary Parts.”31 

Of this last we can be certain, for it was he who planned and 

staged both of the great massacres. 

In using the term massacre, I am reminded that some one 

has observed that when the Indian and the white man fought 

in this country, the fight became a battle when the white man 

won, a massacre when the Indian prevailed. This doubtless is 

true enough, but the colonists who escaped the attack that 

came on Good Friday morning of 1622 were fully justified in 

describing it as a massacre. Although the normal practice of 

the Indians was to spare women and children to become a 

prize of war held for enslavement, adoption, or marriage, and 

although on this occasion there is evidence that perhaps as 

many as twenty persons survived as prisoners, in most places 

men, women, and children were slaughtered indiscrim¬ 

inately.32 Opechancanough unmistakably intended to de¬ 

stroy the colony through a single coordinated assault upon 

plantations stretched out along both banks of the James in a 

dangerously dispersed pattern of settlement that the English 

had allowed to develop over the course of the preceding four 

years. It cannot be said that the warriors he deployed that 

morning represented the full force of the so-called Powhatan 
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Indians, for the Potomacs and evidently those living on the 

Eastern Shore did not participate in the attack.33 Nor can it 

be said that the surprise achieved was quite so complete as 

tradition would have us believe, but it is hardly the less re¬ 

markable. The casualties inflicted, though falling far short of 

what Opechancanough undoubtedly had hoped for, could 

have been higher than the officially admitted figure of 347 

dead. The serious dislocations resulting from the massacre, 

together with an epidemic which followed it, brought the 

colony all too close to the destruction Opechancanough had 

^intended to inflict upon it.34 

The colonists were quick to find an explanation couched 

in the simple terms of barbarism, savagery, and treachery. 

Their bitterness was all the greater because Opechancan- 

ough’s repeated assurances of his peaceable intentions had 

coincided with moves by the English adventurers to pro- 

k' vide the most substantial evidence yet given of their good 

will toward the Indian. For all the skepticism with which the 

modern student has read the record, the adventurers from 

the first had assigned a high place among their objectives to 

the Indian’s conversion to the Christian faith, and at the 

time of the massacre they were engaged in launching a major 

missionary undertaking in the Indian school and college that 

was to depend for support very largely upon funds raised as 

a result of the earlier visit by Pocahontas to England.35 How¬ 

ever misguided may have been this effort, there can be no 

question as to the sincerity of the convictions upon which 

the project rested, or the justification for their own conduct 

the colonists found in it. But the question of good will or ill 

will is really beside the main point to be made here. Although 

^ the English adventurers had given much thought to the prob- 

lem of getting along with the Indian, they liacTno solution 

for an accommodation of the two peoples that did not depend 

upon an assumption that the Indian in time would adapt to 

a European pattern of life. What the massacre signalled 

^ above all was the Indian’s refusal to adapt. 
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That refusal is not difficult to understand. He had his own 

culture, and the normal loyalty of any people to their own 

heritage.38 Whatever one may think of the despotism of 

Powhatan and Opechancanough, the political system over 

which they presided offered protection for its members 

against their foes, of whom all Indians seem to have had 

many. The sophistication of the economy already has been 

mentioned, and did time permit, additional comment could 

be made on the sophistication of the Powhatans in the de¬ 

velopment of arts and crafts, including their pottery, bas¬ 

ketry, and the pipes in which they smoked the tobacco they 

grew, or the musical instrument made from a reed that John 

Smith compared with the recorder, then very popular in 

England.37 The division of labor between the sexes often 

has been misunderstood by the modern American, perhaps 

because he equates hunting and fishing too much with sport. 

One reads European discussions of the Indian’s religion 

with less assurance than is felt in reading descriptions of 

other aspects of native life, no doubt because the questions 

asked by the European of the Indian were so deeply rooted 

in the Christian tradition. Suffice it to say that the Indian’s 

religion was a form of pantheism, and that the frequently 

miserable estate of the colonists at Jamestown must have 

persuaded more than one Indian that his own gods were as 

powerful as any the English had to offer. Ralph Lane has 

recorded for us the open contempt shown toward the Eng¬ 

lish near the end of Raleigh’s first colony by the local Indians, 

who began “flatly to say, that our Lord God was not God, 

since hee suffered vs to sustaine much hunger, and also to be 

killed of the Renapoaks,” this last a generic name Lane 

understood to comprehend the whole of the mainland 

Indians.38 

The English, whose attitude toward the native culture was & 

at its best patronizing, had been quick to see in the Indian * 

priest a dangerous foe. As early as 1609 Gates was authorized, /. 

in a section of his instructions dealing with a plan for bring- 
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ing up Indian children in English households, to imprison 

sf~ all of the priests if he saw fit, and he was further advised not 

to hesitate to deal even “more sharpely with . . . these mur- 

therers of Soules.”39 William Strachey regarded the priests 

as the chief instigators of attacks upon the colonists. He 

depicted them, and probably with good reason, as warning 

their chieftains of the offence that would be given the Indian 

gods if “a Nation despising the auncyent Religion of their 

for fathers” be permitted “to inhabite among them.” By way 

of illustrating the influence of the priests, he tells of a 

prophesy made to Powhatan that a nation would “arise” 

from Chesapeake Bay to destroy his empire, and to this 

prophesy Strachey attributes the destruction of the Chesa¬ 

peake Indians, who formerly had lived just below the bay 

that still bears their name but were described at the time of 

Strachey’s writing as being extinct. Especially interesting is 

the fact that his account of the destruction of the Chesapeakes 

is followed immediately in the text by a report, received 

from “some of the Inhabitants,” that still another prophesy 

had been made, this one foretelling “that twice” Powhatan’s 

people might overthrow “such Straungers as should envade 

their Territoryes, or laboure to settell a plantation amongest 

them, but the third tyme they themselves should fall into 

their Subiection and vnder their Conquest.”40 

It seems obvious enough that Powhatan was not persuaded 

to act on this or any other such prophesy. Nor can it be said 

that a decade later Opechancanough did so. But it can be 

said that if the latter’s policy through four years, in which 

he more than once renewed the peace, was to bide his time, 

there was warning enough for him in the swelling migration 

from England after 1G18—a migration fixed by the Virginia 

Company at more than three thousand, five hundred per¬ 

sons—that time was running out.41 The number of Indians 

converted to the Christian faith before 1622 was hardly large 

enough to disturb any save the most apprehensive of the 

native priests, but perhaps in situations like this it is not 
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In any case, it seems worthy of note that it was a converted 

Indian who gave the warning on the morning of the massacre 

that was credited with saving Jamestown.42 

The embittered colonists lacked the strength and the aid 

from England to carry out the advice of the Virginia Com¬ 

pany that their enemies no longer be allowed to live as “a 

people vppon the face of the Earth.”43 But the colony did 

manage, in the pursuit of a policy once described as one of 

“perpetual enmity,” to field year after year forces whose task 

was systematically to cut the Indian’s corn in the field, burn 

his villages, destroy his fishing weirs, and subject him to 

every other possible harassment. Through these tactics the 

colonists kept the area of settlement reasonably clear of In¬ 

dians, and having established early in the 1630s a frontier 

outpost in the promoted settlement at Chiskiack on the York 

River, the government finally allowed the kind of peace that 

is broken only by individual incidents to return.44 

After another decade had passed, Opechancanough struck 

again. This time the venture was foolhardy in the extreme. 

Perhaps his age was to blame. There is no way of telling just 

what it was, but he was considerably older than the colony 

itself, and Beverley has reported that he was now virtually 

blind and so infirm that he had to be carried to the field of 

battle. His attack, which apparently came in April 1644, 

brought death to perhaps as many as five hundred colonists, 

but the casualties seem to have been sustained mainly by the 

outlying settlements of a colony then numbering probably 

more than eight thousand persons. The resulting war dragged 

on for two years, and it was probably in the second of these 

years that Opechancanough himself was captured and carried 

to Jamestown, where, according to tradition, he died after 

being shot in the back by a soldier set to guard him.45 The 

progress of the war is recorded for us by the assembly’s pro¬ 

vision in 1645 f°r the building of three blockhouses intended 

to protect the colonists against further attacks by the In- 
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dians, one at the falls of the James, another at Pamunkey on 

the Mattaponi, and a third overlooking the Chickahominy; 

in the following year provision was made for a fourth fort 

at the falls of the Appomattox.46 By March 1646 it was 

concluded by the General Assembly that there was little 

point in continuing the war. The Indians were described as 

“driven from their townes and habitations, lurking up & 

downe the woods in small numbers,” and it was agreed that 

it would be almost impossible to impose any “further revenge 

upon” them.47 The time had come for a peace. 

The distinguishing feature of the peace of 1646, recorded 

for us in the form of a statute adopted by a general assembly 

meeting in October of that year, was a provision making 

the defeated Indians tributary to the government of the 

colony. It was not a new idea. Such a proposal had been made 

as early as 1609, but with a significant difference. The 

thought then had been to destroy Powhatan’s authority by 

making the tribes individually dependent upon the English, 

who would rely for discipline of the tributary Indians upon 

an alliance with their enemies. Now the decision was to pre¬ 

serve at least some semblance of the old union as a device 

for giving effect to the new tributary status and to an alliance 

with the tributary Indians against their foes. Hence the 

distinction between “neighboring” or “friendly” Indians 

and “foreign” Indians that runs through virtually all dis¬ 

cussion of the Indian problem for the remainder of the 

century.48 

By the terms of the treaty Necotowance, who was de¬ 

scribed simply as “king of the Indians” and who presumably 

was successor to Opechancanough, acknowledged that he held 

his lands of the king of England by payment of “twenty 

beaver skins att the goeing away of Geese yearely.”49 It was 

further provided that no Indian, without special permission 

and upon the pain of death, could enter any part of the 

peninsula lying below the falls of the York and James Rivers, 

and that on the south side of the latter stream no Indian 
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could come closer to the English plantations than a line 

running straight from the head of Blackwater River to “old 

Monakin town,” which lay above the falls of the James. 

There was nothing new in this attempt to exclude the In¬ 

dian from the main areas of settlement; it merely extended 

the limits of the area from which he was to be excluded. 

There was, however, a new element of policy, one pointing 

unmistakably toward the Indian reservations of later date, 

in the attempt to establish an exclusive right of the Indians 

to the land lying across the York River, except for the gov¬ 

ernor’s option, after giving notice, to open the lower reaches 

of the river to settlement by the English. This provision 

would appear to have been intended as a guarantee prin¬ 

cipally for the Pamunkeys, Opechancanough’s tribe, but 

the phrasing is so vague that it is impossible to know how 

far north the guarantee may have been intended to reach, 

as it also is impossible to say how far in any direction the 

authority of the new “king of the Indians” actually extended. 

But one point is certain: whatever authority he held, or 

might hold thereafter, belonged to him by the sufferance of 

the English colony. Nowhere is the completeness of the In¬ 

dian’s defeat more clearly recorded than in the treaty’s pro¬ 

vision that thereafter the governor of Virginia would de¬ 

termine, by confirmation or appointment, the succession to 

the office of “king of the Indians.” 

There seems to be no information available for an an¬ 

swer to the question of how long Necotowance may have re¬ 

mained in office, but apparently it was not long. A promo¬ 

tional pamphlet published in London in 1649 reports his 

visit in the preceding year to Sir William Berkeley, “with 

five more petty kings attending him,” to make payment of 

the twenty beaver skins and to protest that “the sun and 

moon should first lose their glorious lights . . . before he, 

or his people should evermore hereafter wrong the English 

in any kind,” but after that, so far as I have found, he simply 

drops out of history.50 I have seen no firm evidence that he 
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even had a successor as “king of the Indians.’’51 Certainly 

the surviving records of the colony indicate that its govern¬ 

ment quickly came to deal with the several tribes individually 

rather than collectively. 

How complete a defeat had been inflicted upon the In¬ 

dians is also demonstrated by their failure to put up any 

serious resistance to the extraordinary expansion of the area 

of English settlement which followed soon after the peace 

of 1646, a peace it may be well to remember that was made 

at a time when the migration from England was in marked 

decline. The land across the lower York was opened for 

settlement as early as 1648, the same year in which North¬ 

umberland County on the lower Potomac was formed. As 

the migration from England gained momentum, the inter¬ 

vening region, drained chiefly by the Rappahannock, was 

occupied. Before 1660 the settlers were pushing up both of 

these rivers toward the fall line, while below the James the 

settled area drew closer to the lands of the Iroquoian Notta- 

ways and Meherrins, who apparently had never paid tribute 

to Powhatan or Opechancanough. Trouble might develop 

here and there, as when early in the 1650s an alarm was 

raised about the intentions of the Rappahannock Indians, 

and the local militia was authorized to take such action as 

might be necessary. There is no indication, however, that 

whatever action may have been undertaken involved a con¬ 

flict of serious proportions. By the 1660s it had become a 

virtually established principle of the colony’s policy that each 

community could and would take care of its own Indian 

troubles.52 

It is not intended to suggest that the government at James¬ 

town became indifferent to a problem that was much more 

likely to involve individual acts of violence, both by the 

settler and by the Indian, than a return to open warfare. 

The provincial authorities normally confined their own ac¬ 

tivity to two main areas. First, they struggled—and I think it 

has to be said honestly—to reduce the risk of trouble by pro- 
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viding simple justice for the tributary Indians under cir¬ 

cumstances in which some intermingling of the two peoples 

seemed to be inescapable.53 Claiming special and repeated 

attention was the difficult question of how to protect the 

Indian’s right to a fair share of the land. Secondly, they 

sought to tighten the government’s disciplinary control over 

the several tribes, and most notably by a statute of 1665 

which deprived the tributary Indians of even so much as the 

semblance of a right to choose their own leaders. Their choice 

since 1646 had been subject to the governor’s confirmation, 

but now he was authorized to select as commanders of the 

“respective towns” such persons as he had cause to place con¬ 

fidence in. The penalty for disobedience to, or the murder 

of, a chieftain so appointed was the loss of status as friendly 

Indians.54 

This was a penalty only the more irresponsible of Indians 

could then have thought it safe to ignore. Not only were the 

natives divided politically and confronted by an immigra¬ 

tion of such overwhelming proportions as to reemphasize 

each year their relative weakness, but over the preceding 

decades they themselves had suffered an extraordinary actual 

loss in numbers. A continuing plague of wolves, which more 

than once before had led the assembly to seek aid from the 

Indians, brought in October 1669 an act assigning to each 

of the tributary tribes an annual quota of wolf heads, and 

because the quotas were assessed according to the number 

of hunters in each of the tribes, the act provides an un¬ 

usually valuable indication of their strength individually 

and collectively.55 There were now no more than nineteen 

tributary tribes, not counting those on the Eastern Shore and 

including several which had not been among the some thirty 

tribes Powhatan once controlled. Those tribes which can be 

identified as former members of his “confederacy” had in 

1669 a total of 528 warriors, a figure to be compared with the 

some 2,400 credited to Powhatan’s command by Captain 

John Smith. On the basis of the data provided by the act 
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of 1669, it has been estimated that the total population of 

the Powhatan Indians had fallen since 1607 from eight or 

nine thousand to perhaps no more than two thousand.56 

Hardly less significant than this marked decline in strength 

is the inclusion among the tributary tribes in 1669 of In¬ 

dians who had not been a part of Powhatan’s empire. Two 

towns of the Nottoway Indians, with a combined muster of 

ninety warriors, outranked in size all other tributary groups. 

The fifty warriors listed for the Meherrins gave them place 

also among the more powerful of the friendly tribes. Much 

less impressive were the thirty men representing what must 

have been a very small remnant of the Monacans, who on the 

upper James had been regarded by Powhatan as one of his 

more dangerous foes.57 Just when these outlying tribes had 

come to terms with the English seems uncertain, but their 

inclusion in the list serves to remind us that at some time 

before 1669 an entirely new chapter in the history of the 

colony’s Indian relations had been opened. 

How early that chapter may have had its beginning is 

suggested by the military action the colonv took in 1656 

against a body of strange Indians, known to the colonists 

as the Richeharians, who had taken up a position in the 

neighborhood of modern Richmond. Who they were remains 

an unsettled question. It has been suggested that they may 

have been Cherokees who had come from the southwest for 

no other purpose than a trade with the English. Another 

view is that they probably were some remnant of the Mana- 

hoacs, who in Powhatan’s day had occupied the upper reaches 

of the Rappahannock, posing an even more serious chal¬ 

lenge to his empire than did their allies the Monacans, and 

who now had been driven down by the hostile action of other 

Indians, possibly the Susquehannahs. Whatever mav be the 

fact, they were “foreign” Indians and the English settlers 

with their native allies made the intruder’s expulsion a com¬ 

mon cause. The forces sent against them included one hun¬ 

dred militiamen from the upper James River counties and 
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one hundred Pamunkey warriors. The resulting fight has 

gone down in history as a defeat for the allied forces, no 

doubt in part because the king of the Pamunkeys was killed 

together with many of his warriors.58 Perhaps it wras a defeat, 

but it hardly could have been more than a momentary 

reversal. 

Much more pertinent to the purposes of the present dis¬ 

cussion is the evidence which argues that before 1669 the 

western frontiers of the Virginia colony, running then rough¬ 

ly with the fall line, had been cleared of more or less per¬ 

manent Indian residents who were capable of posing a serious 

challenge to the colony, or even to its further expansion in 

that direction. The Manahoacs had disappeared, possibly 

through defeats suffered at the hands of Powhatan or Ope- 

chancanough, who through eight years of peace with the 

English had opportunities to settle a score with their native 

enemies, or perhaps later through invasions from the north 

by the Susquehannahs or other warlike Indians, or conceiv- 

ablv through some combination of all these possibilities. To 

the previously mentioned thirty bowmen representing a rem¬ 

nant of the once feared Monacans must be added still another 

remnant, the Saponi, who lived farther west, some of them 

in the neighborhood, I believe, of Charlottesville. In 1669 

the Saponi presumably were still independent, but they 

came to terms with the English in the peace of 1677 that fol¬ 

lowed Bacon's Rebellion.59 

As earlv as 1662 the colony’s records make it evident that 

the critical aspect of the Indian problem was becoming 

the intrusions of Indians whom the government might simply 

describe as the Northern Indians, or with some possible 

confusion of identities as Susquehannahs, Doegs, or Mary¬ 

landers.60 A part of the trouble was blamed also on the king 

of the Potomacs, one of the earlier Powhatan tribes which 

finds no place among the tributary Indians in 1669. The 

story is a difficult one for the modern student to reconstruct, 

but there can be little doubt as to the ultimate source of the 
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trouble.61 The North American Indians were divided by 

many jealousies, some of them ancient, and more to the 

point, some of them sharpened by the presence of the Euro¬ 

pean—none more than those involving the Iroquois Confed¬ 

eration of New York. Strategically situated for gaining an 

advantage from the presence of virtually all the European 

nations active in North America, saving only Spain, they 

fought during the middle years of the seventeenth century a 

succession of wars that brought destruction or dispersal first 

to the Hurons in Canada, next to the Eries in western New 

York and Pennsylvania, and finally to the Susquehannahs.62 

It has been suggested that the Susquehannahs enjoyed the 

greatest freedom for adventures of their own while the 

Iroquois were concentrating on the destruction of the Eries, 

a task finally completed by 1656, and that the subsequent and 

protracted struggle between the Iroquois and the Susque¬ 

hannahs afforded comparable opportunities for adventure 

by other northern Indians.63 We can be certain only that it 

was the defeat and dispersal of the Susquehannahs which 

brought about the crisis on Virginia’s northwestern frontier 

leading finally to Bacon’s Rebellion. 

How far the friendly Indians of Virginia may have gotten 

out of hand in the early months of 1676 probably must re¬ 

main a question on which opinions will differ. The record 

itself is difficult to interpret, if only because the colonists, 

or most of them at least, were disinclined to draw any dis¬ 

tinction between one Indian and another and so blamed them 

all. It is my own opinion that the hysterical fear which seized 

the colonists after the initial attack in January caused them 

to exaggerate the number of hostile acts by Indians, friendly 

or other. Be that as it may, it is a matter of record that the 

Pamunkeys, who among the tributary tribes became the 

chief target of the settlers’ w’rath, were subsequently exon¬ 

erated by the'investigation of royal commissioners who in¬ 

cluded Francis Moryson, an experienced leader in the colony 

for many years past.64 The one point on which full agree- 
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ment can be had is that the tributary Indians then had 

passed through another bitter and undoubtedly debilitating 

experience. 

/ Once more, in the spring of 1677. they acknowledged their 

allegiam c to the king of England and received renewed guar¬ 

antees of their own rights. But the relationship of the two 

peoples continued to be poisoned by doubts as to the Indian’s 

fidelity which the colonists, and their government, had carried 

over from the time of Bacon’s Rebellion. The fear fed by 

these doubts might have quickly subsided, except for the 

fact that the colony continued to experience trouble with 

Indians along its frontiers, and especially in the northwest. 

Historians have become accustomed to interpret such diffi¬ 

culties as almost invariably the result of a clash between the 

advancing settler and the Indian confronted by still another 

demand that he yield up more of his land, but in this in¬ 

stance, at least, a quite different reading seems to be required. 

Not only had the area lying immediately west of the colony’s 

frontier been cleared generally of the Indians formerly in¬ 

habiting there, but this was especially true of the upper 

extension of the frontier, where most of the trouble seems 

to have occurred. Moreover, Lord Culpeper’s proprietary 

grant to the region recently had called into serious question 

the policies that henceforth would govern its development, 

and there seems little reason for assuming that the special 

pressures of a rapidly expanding area of settlement could 

have been in any way the critical factor.65 A much more 

convincing view is that repeatedly expressed as the view 

of the colony’s government, which promptly placed the chief 

blame upon roving bands of Iroquois warriors, and espec¬ 

ially the Senecas, whose name in the colony’s records became 

now almost interchangeable with the old designation 

“Northern Indians.” It was recognized that the Senecas, 

following familiar warpaths south, could be as dangerous to 

the tributary Indians as to the isolated settler, but this reali¬ 

zation also was coupled with the fear that the friendly In- 
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dians might make common cause with the intruders.66 Mary¬ 

land was experiencing similar difficulties with the Iroquois, 

and as early as 1677 the two governments undertook jointly 

sponsored negotiations at Albany for the security of their 

frontiers. A treaty negotiated by Virginia at Albany in 1684 

helped to ease the tension along that colony’s frontiers.67 

These negotiations were merely the earliest in which Vir¬ 

ginia would be involved. The Iroquois sought wuth great 

persistence to extend their influence southward, across a 

backcountry remarkably free of Indians capable of resistance 

until the lands belonging to the Cherokee had been reached. 

But the later chapters of this story have no place here. 

The space belongs instead to the marked decline in the 

fortunes of Virginia’s tributary Indians during the last quar¬ 

ter of the seventeenth century. In 1697, Sir Edmund Andros, 

then approaching the end of his term as governor, reported 

to the newly established Board of Trade that the tributary 

Indians were capable of mustering hardly as many as three 

hundred and sixty-two bowmen, of whom almost one hun¬ 

dred were credited to nine small “nations” on the Eastern 

Shore, which probably had nowhere near that strength.68 If 

it be remembered that the muster roll of 1669 did not include 

the Eastern Shore Indians, the contrast is even more marked 

than at first glance it appears, for where formerly there had 

been considerably more than 528 warriors there were now 

less than half that number. Perhaps an even more impressive 

indication of the declining strength of Virginia’s Indians is 

found in the extraordinarily sympathetic account of them 

published in 1705 in Robert Beverley’s History and Present 

State of Virginia. The challenge the Indians once had made 

to the presence of the English had become a part of history, 

a history that could deal generously even with Opechan- 

canough. Although Governor Andros had reported in 1697 

that “no endeavours to convert the Indians to Christianity 

have ever been heard of,” the newly chartered College of 

William and Mary was destined ere long to turn its attention 
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to the mission once promised for the projected Indian school 

of the 1620s. The history was coming full circle, and the Eng¬ 

lish still had no solution for the Indian problem that did 

not depend upon the hope that the native ultimately would 

make the adaptation he earlier had so obviously and bitterly 

rejected. 

Explanations that usually have been offered for the re¬ 

markable decline of Virginia’s Indians to the status of a 

harmless curiosity understandably begin with the toll exacted 

by war. It probably would be a mistake, however, to think 

in terms primarily of combat casualties. Not only were the 

Indian’s tactics skillfully adapted to a need to reduce casual¬ 

ties, but he knew when to retreat and how to take advantage 

of the cover generously provided by a familiar environment. 

Undoubtedly, the cumulative toll taken over so protracted a 

period of hostilities as that following the first massacre was 

significant, but it seems likely that the hunger, exposure, and 

psychological shock resulting from the tactics employed by 

the English were much more costly. There was also for the 

Indian the continuing toll resulting from the attitude of 

colonists who had learned to take “small account of shedding 

Indians’ blood, though never so innocent,” in the phrasing 

of a statute of 1656 intended to provide a remedy.69 After 

the massacre of 1644, some of the Indians taken as prisoners 

were shipped out of the colony, presumably for sale as 

slaves.70 Finally, there were those who simply fled in search 

of a refuge outside the area of settlement, not always finding 

it, and those who fell victims to intruding “foreign” Indians.71 

It is reasonable to assume, as often it has been, that the 

toll taken by unfamiliar diseases brought in by the English 

was high, but it has to be said that in the case of Virginia’s 

Indians very scanty evidence indeed exists to support the 

view. There is evidence that after 1667, when apparently the 

first recorded epidemic of smallpox in the colony’s history 

occurred, the natives suffered seriously, especially on the 

Eastern Shore, but that is just about the sum of it.72 Beverley 
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declared that they were not subject to many diseases. The 

Rev. John Clayton, himself a physician, in 1687 wrote re¬ 

spectfully of a number of their medical practices, described 

the Indians as persons generally well proportioned and tall 

(as had others before him), and spoke of the declining size 

of the population as something of a puzzle in view of the 

fact that they lived “under the English protection & have no 

violence offered them.” In this connection, he included an 

interesting demographic comment. He reported that al¬ 

though some Indians had lived to a very old age, he was 

unable to say that there was any remarkable difference in this 

regard between the Indians and the colonists, who if they 

lived “past 33 they generally live to a good age; but many 

die between 30 & 33.” And to this he added, speaking of the 

natives: “They are undoubtedly no great breeders.”73 

Economic considerations have received much less atten¬ 

tion than the subject deserves. A close study in this connec¬ 

tion of the Indian trade probably would reveal much that is 

helpful. The point that has to be kept in mind is how quick¬ 

ly the advantage in this trade passed from the neighboring 

Indians to those more distantly situated from the colony, 

whether for political reasons, as after the massacre of 1622, 

or because of a depletion in the local supply of skins through 

the over-hunting the trade itself encouraged. As is well 

known, the main thrust of the Virginia traders after 1622 

was toward the upper Chesapeake, with William Claiborne 

in the lead, and by mid-century toward the south and south¬ 

west with Abraham Wood and later William Byrd as leaders. 

That some trade with the tributary tribes wTas reestablished 

after 1646 is indicated by the assembly’s concern in 1662 lest 

the intrusions of the “Northern Indians” deprive the colony’s 

own Indians of the means for a trade upon which their 

livelihood then depended.74 

n lertainly, in other parts of North America the Indians 

who survived the intrusion of the Europeans with strength 

enough to gain an advantage over other Indians, to demand 



Red 67 

respectful attention from representatives of the European 

powers, and to preserve their own culture without sacrifice 

of dignity, however temporarily in the long run, were those 

who could trade with the European more or less on equal 

terms. Where this became impossible the Indian became 

dependent, a man destined to serve at best in the capacity of 

an interpreter or a scout, a man often despised and hated by 

the ordinary colonist, if not by his more enlightened leaders. 

I see no reason for assuming that Virginia’s Indians had a 

r1;fierent fate. 
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BLACK 

ANY transition from the subject of the Indian to that of 

/_\ the Negro in seventeenth-century Virginia immediate- 

-L ly raises a question as to why the one was enslaved and 

the other not. Both were regarded by the English colonists 

as basically barbarous and savage. Each in physical appear¬ 

ance differed markedly from the white settler. Both were 

heathen, speaking generally, and so possessd of an identifica¬ 

tion providing the easiest of justifications for their enslave¬ 

ment. There were, it is true, a few Indian slaves in the colony, 

as there were also a number of Negroes who escaped enslave¬ 

ment. But the common experience of the two peoples was 

quite different in this regard. 

The usual explanation for this difference depends first 

upon an assumption that the Indian was difficult to enslave, 

an assumption that may depend too much upon the old 

notion that the Negro was perculiarly fitted for the role, but 

it has to be agreed that the Indian enjoyed a decided advan¬ 

tage from being in his own country.jWhen it is remembered, 

however, that South Carolina at the beginning of the eigh¬ 

teenth century had several hundred Indian slaves, possibly 

as much as a third of its total slave population, one begins 

to wonder if the answer to the question can be quite so 

simple.1 South Carolina had acquired its Indian slaves as a 

regular item of exchange in its far-flung trade with the south¬ 

eastern Indian nations. These nations had their own differ¬ 

ences, their own wars with one another, conflicts which 

undoubtedly were intensified by the opportunity to sell 

prisoners taken in war to the Charles Town traders. It was 

a development comparable to that which in Africa served the 

demands of the trans-Atlantic slave trade. It also was a de- 
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velopment virtually unique in the history of the English 

colonies of North America, but nevertheless one that em¬ 

phasizes the need to pay attention to the special circum¬ 

stances of time and place that in other areas may have 

etermined the end result./ 

' Among such circumstances in the case of Virginia, first 

mention belongs to the protection the Indian enjoyed 

through the commitment the Virginia Company had made 

to accomplish his salvation. However justified the modern 

student may be in viewing this commitment with cynicism, 

there is no escape from the fact that the promotional efforts 

upon which the entire venture depended for support, finan¬ 

cial and other, leaned heavily upon that promise. Any en¬ 

slavement of Indians could have met with embarrassing 

demands for explanation in England, and in a number of 

very high places. After 1622, the fear and hatred of the Indian 

by the settler undoubtedly deserves the chief emphasis. A 

people determined to exclude all Indians from the area 

of settlement were hardly in a mood to include many of 

them in their own households. The decision to ship prisoners 

of war out of the colony in 1645 was justified on purely 

military grounds, but certainly there was another consid¬ 

eration.2 The exception made for prisoners under twelve, 

together with a provision in the treaty of 1646 for placing 

Indian children not over that age in English households, 

with the parent’s consent, can be viewed with suspicion that 

the arrangement might easily lead to the child’s ultimate 

enslavement. Supporting that view is subsequent legislation 

seeking to guarantee that the child would not be enslaved, 

but perhaps the need for such legislation deserves no more 

Lcmphasis than does the guarantee thus given.3 

) After mid-century, one has to keep in mind the distinction 

between Virginia’s own Indians, now tributary, and the out¬ 

siders, the foreign Indians. That the colonists were not 

averse to imposing upon the latter a condition of servitude 

approaching enslavement is suggested by Berkeley’s advice 
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in 1666 to the militia command in the northern counties 

that the cost of a campaign against the “Northern” Indians 

might be defrayed by the women and children taken as 

“booty.”4 There is evidence also that Virginia’s traders, 

pressing their trade in a southwesterly direction into an area 

soon to be more fully exploited by the Charles Town trad¬ 

ers, may have been beginning at about this time to bring 

Indians purchased from other Indians into the colony for 

sale.5 But not until 1676, in one of Bacon’s Laws, did the 

enslavement of Indians receive a positive sanction from 

public law (in the case of those seized as prisoners of war), 

and that sanction lasted only for a few years.6 In the long run, 

the critical consideration would appear to be the fact that 

the troublesome Indians continued to be intruders from the 

north, whose enslavement could have complicated the col¬ 

ony’s relations wuth other provinces, or even with a govern¬ 

ment in England increasingly alert to the role that might 

be played by the Iroquois in the struggle with ^France. As 

Virginia wisely turned to diplomacy in its search for security, 

the Negroes came dangerously close to being the only people 

in the colony with whom the institution of slavery was 

sntified. 

The problem of the Negro's enslavement remains a diffi¬ 

cult one, very largely because it was first accomplished 

through custom and usage rather than by legislation. Re¬ 

cently, however, the difficulty has been greatly reduced, as 

must be much of the controversy that has surrounded the 

question, by the publication of Winthrop Jordan’s penetrat¬ 

ing study of American attitudes toward the Negro.7 gis study 

reveals with newjQjxer^ncHvith new. evidence, the peculiar 

In addition, it reinforces the evidence, unfortunately still 

fragmentary, which argues that in all areas of English col¬ 

onization the status of a slave, however imperfectly defined 

as yet, was becoming by the 1640s the normal lot of the 

Negro. I have thought it unnecessary here to renew the 
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discussion of this question, or to review again the successive 

laws enacted by the Virginia assembly after 1660 for the 

purpose of resolving specific problems arising from the ex¬ 

istence of a state of enslavement for a large part, though by 

no means all, of the colony’s Negro population. Instead, let 

me refer you to Professor Jordan’s persuasive discussion of 

the subject under what has seemed to me an especially apt 

caption: “The Unthinking Decision.” 

In passing, let me also refer to two other distinguished 

works of recent date which bear less directly on the origins 

of slavery in Virginia but certainly lend a helpful perspec¬ 

tive for such further investigation of the subject as may be 

undertaken. David Brion Davis in The Problem of Slavery 

in Western Culture has not attempted to write a history of 

slavery as such, but in an unusually well-informed discussion 

of the institution as it developed in different parts of 

America he has called into question the frequently popular 

view that an especially harsh form of slavery was found in 

the English colonies of North America.8 Still more recently, 

Philip Curtin, in the first sophisticated effort to provide a 

comprehensive analysis of the admittedly imperfect statisti¬ 

cal data that has survived for study of the trans-Atlantic 

slave trade, has presented results which put the question 

even more insistently.9 

In my own review of the literature, old and new, I have 

been struck by the thought that American historians have 

been so largely concerned with the question of the Negro’s 

status, with the origins of the institution of slavery, as to be 

indifferent to other questions they might have investigated. 

Let me hasten to insist that this remark is in no way prefatory 

to an announcement of some startling discovery. The plain 

fact is that the surviving record is so incomplete as to impose 

a decided limit on what we are ever likely to know about the 

Negro in seventeenth-century Virginia, free or slave. What 

bothers me is that we may have been too content to have it 

this way. I am speaking, in other words, of an attitude, one 
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that seems to have been shared by black and white historians 

alike. 

For example, our textbooks consistently assure us—as also 

do more specialized works by well-informed scholars—that 

the well-known Dutch shipmaster in i6ig brought to Vir¬ 

ginia twenty Negroes. Most commonly, it is said that he 

brought them to Jamestown. In actual fact, we have no 

certain knowledge as to the number of these persons, and 

no certain documentary evidence that they were carried to 

Jamestown at all. Our textbooks say there were twenty be¬ 

cause this is what Captain John Smith said in his Historic,10 

Robert Beverley picked up the item from Smith, added the 

information that these were the first to be “carried into the 

Country,” and so began the history of one of those historical 

facts that become in time so well established that no author 

bothers to burden his text with a footnote.11 Fortunately, 

the captain had a way very often of citing his source, which 

in this instance was a letter from John Rolfe to Sir Edwin 

Sandys, and not only has the original survived but for nearly 

forty years now its text has been readily available for con¬ 

sultation in any library possessing the third volume of 

Susan Kingsbury’s Records of the Virginia, Company.12 

There one finds instead of the “twenty Negars,” as Smith 

paraphrased his source, a statement that there were “20. and 

odd Negroes.” Although this is a good example of the im¬ 

precision with which a man in the seventeenth century might 

present such information, the Oxford Dictionary leaves no 

room for doubt that the phrasing must be read to mean 

somewhat more than twenty. Whether it can be read as 

twenty-one, twenty-two, or even more is a question that has 

to be left to conjecture. 

There is, it is true, additional evidence, that found in 

the census of 1625, but this evidence hardly can be said to 

resolve the problem. According to the census, which was 

remarkably detailed, there were then living in the colony a 

total of twenty-three Negroes, of whom two were children 
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presumably born in the colony. Four of the twenty-one 

adults, two men and two women, are listed as having mi¬ 

grated to the colony after 1619, the earliest in 1621, another 

in 1622, and two as recently as 1623.13 Only in these four 

instances is the time of arrival in the colony given for the 

Negroes listed, and so the remaining seventeen presumably 

represent the original group. Whether this means that John 

Rolfe’s report of the number was mistaken, or whether sev¬ 

eral Negroes meanwhile had died, cannot be said. There is 

a record of the death of one Negro at some time after April 

1623, but I know of no other evidence bearing on the point.14 

In view of the extraordinary effort that has been devoted 

to the search for every discoverable detail regarding the 

Susan Constant, or the Mayflower and its passengers, we 

should perhaps turn back to Rolfe’s letter for such additional 

information as it provides. It was written three months or 

more after the Dutchman’s arrival “about the latter end 

of August” at Point Comfort. There is no mention whatso¬ 

ever of the ship’s going up to Jamestown. The letter de¬ 

scribes the vessel as a man-of-war of 160 tons, names the 

commander as a Captain Jope, identifies the pilot as an Eng¬ 

lishman named “Mr. Marmaduke,” and reports that the ship 

had been engaged in a none-too-successful plundering expe¬ 

dition in the West Indies. It is in this connection that Rolfe 

gives the number, declaring that the captain had brought 

into Point Comfort “not any thing but 20. and odd Negroes.” 

His presence in Virginia, as also perhaps the fact that he 

had an English pilot aboard, is explained by a meeting in 

the West Indies between the Dutch ship and an English 

vessel named the Treasurer, which had sailed from Virginia 

for the West Indies earlier in the year and which belonged 

to the Earl of Warwick, a leading Virginia and Bermuda 

adventurer who probably was the heaviest English investor of 

his day in privateering voyages. It had been agreed that the 

two ships, both evidently short of provisions, would sail to¬ 

gether for Virginia. According to Rolfe, they had been sep- 
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arated in the passage, and the Treasurer had come into Point 

Comfort three or four days after the Dutchman dropped an¬ 

chor there. One other important item is included in the 

letter. Captain Jope had received the supplies he needed 

through a sale of the Negroes to Governor Yeardley and the 

Cape Merchant, resident agent or factor for administration 

of the company’s monopoly of the colony’s trade, a post then 

held by Abraham Piersey. Whether the purchase was ne¬ 

gotiated by the two men in their public or private capacities 

is not stated. It can only be reported that the census of 1625 

shows eight Negroes among the servants of Sir George 

Yeardley, who no longer was governor; seven among Abra¬ 

ham Piersey’s servants, one of them a child; and two adults, 

together with one infant, belonging to William Tucker, who 

in 1619 happened to be the commander at Point Comfort.15 

That Rolfe could have been wrong in some of his state¬ 

ments is indicated by one other document, apparently the 

only other surviving one to make reference to the Dutchman’s 

visit. It is a letter written by John Pory, possibly to the Earl 

of Southampton, that was dated at Jamestown on September 

30, 1619 for dispatch by way of a “man of warre of Flushing’’ 

then on the point of sailing for London.16 There is no ques¬ 

tion as to the identity of the vessel, for Pory explains its 

presence in Virginia as the result of “an accidental consort- 

ship in the West Indies” with the Treasurer. In closing the 

letter, he states that it is being entrusted to the ship’s pilot, 

an Englishman named Marmaduke Rayner, who surely must 

have been Rolfe’s “Mr. Marmaduke.” Unfortunately, Pory 

found no occasion to mention the Negroes, or perhaps he 

deliberately avoided mentioning the subject, and so we are 

left entirely dependent upon Rolfe’s account of the trans¬ 

action except for a more specific identification of the ship, 

the presumably correct or full name of its English pilot, 

confirmation for the approximate time of the sale, and the 

possibility, though no more than a possibility, that it may 

actually have occurred at Jamestown. 
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The number of Negroes settled in Virginia in 1619 could 

have been much larger, for the Treasurer had reached Point 

Comfort with at least fourteen aboard. But the treatment 

given its master, Captain Daniel Elfrith, was quite different 

from that accorded the Dutch shipmaster. The leaders of 

the Virginia Company had become alarmed lest reports of 

Elfrith’s use of the colony for privateering against the Span¬ 

iard bring upon the company the king’s displeasure, and 

there can be no doubt that instructions from London explain 

the denial to Elfrith of the assistance he needed. He promptly 

sailed for Bermuda, where he arrived with his ship report¬ 

edly in terrible condition and with fourteen Negroes.17 This 

part of the story needs mention here for more than one 

reason. First, some historians have assumed that Elfrith 

may have disposed of one or more of his Negroes before 

sailing for Bermuda, which seems to be very doubtful in¬ 

deed. Secondly, it may help to provide a warning against 

the error, of which many writers have been guilty, in speak¬ 

ing of the Negroes carried to Virginia by the Dutchman as 

the first in an English colony. Actually, Elfrith’s arrival in 

Bermuda brought the total number of Negroes in that colony 

to perhaps thirty, or possibly even more, and the first of 

them had come as early as 1616.18 Finally, we might know 

more about this historic development in Virginia had not 

the courtesies extended to the Dutch shipmaster come very 

close to raising precisely the same issue as did Elfrith’s pres¬ 

ence there—the encouragement of privateering against the 

Spaniard. It was a very hot issue among the adventurers at 

the time, one contributing greatly to the bitter factional 

strife which helped ultimately to destroy the Virginia Com¬ 

pany itself. Here, in other words, was a subject calling for 

discretion in reports to London. 

On the question of the origins of Virginia’s first Negro 

inhabitants, there is little room for doubt that they came 

from some part of the Spanish territories lying in or around 
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the Caribbean.19 This was the favored hunting ground for 

privateers, an area where there were thousands of miles of 

unprotected coastlines, where communications along the 

coasts or between the islands depended upon small craft, 

where many outlying settlements were poorly prepared to 

defend themselves against forces landed from hostile ships, 

and where Spaniards could be found who were ready enough 

to engage in a contraband trade.20 John Rolfe’s letter clearly 

indicates that the Negroes had been acquired in the West 

Indies, and such a conclusion is reinforced by unmistakable 

evidence as to the West Indian origins of most of the Ne¬ 

groes previously settled in Bermuda, and by a number of 

Spanish names among the few Negroes listed by name in the 

census of 1625. The conclusion naturally has led to a good 

deal of interesting speculation. I am myself persuaded that 

these people probably were native to America. It is possible 

that some or all of them were Christian, a possibility usually 

brought into discussions of the origins of the colony’s free 

Negro population. But these are questions, like the question 

of their status in the colony, on which we really have no 

information to guide us.21 

I know of only one other recorded instance of a Negro 

who definitely was brought to Virginia from the West Indies 

by privateers, in this case by the English crew of a captured 

Spanish frigate in 1625.22 But it has to be remembered that 

for another quarter century and more English privateers 

continued to be active in that area. A main center of their 

activity after 1635 became the Puritan settlement of Prov¬ 

idence Island, off the Mosquito coast of Central America, 

which until its seizure by the Spaniards in 1641 served as a 

base both for plundering expeditions and for an extensive 

contraband trade with Spanish territories. The Puritan col¬ 

ony acquired a substantial Negro population and exported 

Negroes as an important item in its trade with other English 

plantations.23 Some of those exported could have been sent 
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to Virginia, as some of those traded to other plantations could 

have reached Virginia at a later time in a remigration of 

their masters to the mainland.24 

Still another instance in which a privateer may have been 

responsible for the importation of Negroes into the colony 

requires mention because it has gotten into the literature as 

the earliest occasion on which Africans were brought more or 

less directly from Africa to Virginia. The evidence is found 

in two letters from a local official in England reporting to 

his superiors in May 1628 that a Captain Arthur Guy had 

seized “an Angola man with many Negroes,” that these had 

been sold in Virginia, and that the proceeds of the sale to the 

extent of eighty-five hogsheads and more of tobacco had been 

brought into Cowes.25 Whether the transaction took place 

in 1627 or early 1628 is uncertain. We can be certain only 

that the date was not 1629, as 4t usually is given, and that the 

captain’s name was not Grey, as through an apparent error 

of transcription it often has been rendered. There is some 

reason for doubting that the sale actually was made in Vir¬ 

ginia, for Englishmen at the time could still use its name to 

comprehend almost any part of America not occupied by 

Spaniards, and by 1628 there were several English colonies, 

in addition to Virginia, producing tobacco in significant 

quantities. The colony’s records indicate that a shipmaster 

whose name may have been Arthur Guy sailed from Virginia 

for London late in i627-2G It is quite possible that Guy de¬ 

livered a number of Africans to Virginia in that year, but it 

can be doubted that a truly large shipment of that kind could 

have been received without leaving some other trace, some¬ 

where in the surviving records, incomplete as they are. 

So incomplete, to the very end of the century, is the record 

we have for study of the black migration to Virginia that I 

have decided once more to assume the risk of seeing what as¬ 

sistance a closer view of the land patents might provide. As 

with the white migration, so with the black these patents 

constitute the only surviving record that has any claim what- 
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soever to being comprehensive. From 1635 to 1699, when 

Governor Francis Nicholson put an end to the practice, it 

was policy to grant for any Negro brought into the colony 

the same headright of fifty acres that was awarded for the 

importation of other persons. Fortunately, until quite late in 

the century the clerks obviously made it a point to identify 

a Negro as a Negro, either by coupling his name with that 

designation, or in patents granted for unnamed persons, by 

specifying that a certain number of the headrights were for 

Negroes.* In the last quarter of the century, whether 

through carelessness, or to save time, or because the require¬ 

ment that headrights be listed by name was more con¬ 

sistently observed than it had been before, the identification 

of the person as a Negro was often omitted, especially after 

1690.-)- Even so, there is no real difficulty in identifying the 

Negroes, who regularly were listed by a single name, usually 

one the earlier part of the record has shown to be in common 

use for Negroes, whereas other headrights were listed by 

their Christian and family names. All told, by my rough 

count, 4,068 headrights were recorded for persons identi¬ 

fiable as Negroes. 

I have no intention of suggesting for a moment that this 

figure, or others shortly to be presented, can be considered 

precise. In some patents the Negroes are helpfully grouped 

together; in many other instances they are scattered through 

the list of headrights in such a way as to require that every 

list be scanned for the purpose of identifying them. Not only 

* Confirmation for the belief that this was a consistently maintained 

practice is found in the very evident inclination of the clerks to dis¬ 

tinguish in a similar way other immigrants who were not English, in¬ 

cluding the Scotch, Irish, and at times the Welsh. The usage is more 

noticeable in the case of the Negroes mainly because there were so many 

more of them. 

f Perhaps the more frequent use of names toward the end of the 

century has its explanation in a new care to observe at least one of the 

requirements at a time when the administration of the system was being 

increasingly corrupted. 
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may I have been guilty of an occasional oversight, but it 

seems reasonable to assume that the abusive usages which 

are known to have corrupted the record generally were also 

operative in claims made for the importation of Negroes.* It 

cannot be determined whether the fact that the Negro be¬ 

longed to a very special category among the persons entering 

the colony had the effect of making the record for the black 

migration either more or less complete than for the white. 

There are difficulties, but it is a record which at the least 

may serve to raise certain questions that perhaps require 

reexamination of long-standing assumptions. 

Unfortunately, the land patents normally carry no fuller 

information for the black immigrants than they do for the 

white as to the place from which they came or the time of 

their arrival in the colony. But there are helpful indications, 

which on occasion can be strengthened by reference to other 

evidence. There are, for example, the names by which Ne¬ 

groes were listed. It has to be admitted that these names often 

tell us much more about the men who gave them, doubtless 

at times under some pressure for immediate conformity with 

the requirement that headlights be recorded by name, than 

about the persons who bore them. The crude humor with 

which shipmasters or purchasers drew upon ancient history 

or mythology for the names of Caesar, Hannibal, Nero, 

Jupiter, Pluto, or Minerva; the Primus and Secundus who 

headed one list; and the use more than once of Ape or 

Monkey for a name records principally an all-too-prevalent 

attitude of the white toward the black. On the other hand, 

the frequent recurrence until well past mid-century of Span¬ 

ish or Portuguese names—such names as Francisco, Pedro, 

Antonio, Isabella, Angelo, Domingo, and its contraction 

Mingo—strongly suggests that the Caribbean continued 

* Because I previously have explained what the faults in the record 

may l>e, let me add here no more titan a reminder that the figures for 

the later years of the century are evidently the ones most open to ques¬ 

tion. See below, pp. 11-13, l7- 
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through many years to be an important area of recruit¬ 

ment, however direct or indirect may have been the route 

followed from Spanish territories to Virginia.27 

Although, as with the full migration, no close correlation 

can be assumed between the time of a person’s arrival in the 

colony and the date of his appearance as a headright in a 

land patent, the distribution of Negro headrights over the 

larger spans of time have an obvious significance. Thus, by 

my count, there were 140 such headrights recorded from 1635 

through 1639. It cannot be concluded that this many Negroes 

entered the colony during those five years, for it will be 

remembered that the years immediately following the king’s 

clarification of policy in 1634 was a time for catching up on 

a backlog of claims. But the figure certainly provides some 

indication of the number brought into the colony between 

1625 and 1640. No less interesting is the evidence that the 

decade of the 1640s saw a decided drop in the number im¬ 

ported. Land patents issued in 1640 carried only one black 

headright, in two other years (1644 and 1646) there were none 

at all, and the total for the decade of the 1640s comes to no 

more than 105, of which total almost half belongs to the 

single year of 1649. The number of black headrights re¬ 

corded in the 1650s climbs to 317, bringing the sum total 

for the years before 1660 to 562.* 

In 1660 the number drops from the sixteen of the pre- 

ceeding year to just two. Some immediately will have thought 

of the frequently cited patent granted Richard Lee in No- 

* The headrights were distributed as follows: 

1635: 26 1640 1 1650 11 
1636: 10 1641 7 1651 35 

1637: 29 1642 23 1652 53 

1638: 59 1643 10 1653 32 

1639: 16 1644 0 1654 31 

1645 4 1655 4 

1646 0 1656 68 
1647 7 1657 31 

1648 2 1658 36 

1649 51 1659 16 
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vember of that year for the transportation of eighty Negroes, 

but there is good reason for believing that none of these 

persons reached Virginia. The evidence is found in a grant 

of November 29, 1667 to Henry Corbyn, which included, by 

special order of the governor and council, headrights for 

thirty-six persons lost at sea on their way to Virginia, and it 

is stated in the patent that the precedent for this action was 

the benefit “in the like kind” enjoyed by Colonel Lee under 

a special order of the Quarter Court dated October 18, 1660.28 

At the time there was only one Colonel Lee in Virginia, and 

there is no record of any other patent granted to Richard 

Lee in that year.29 

Accordingly, I have omitted Lee’s eighty headrights in a 

count that brings the total for the 1660s to 609, a figure that 

falls a little short of doubling the total for the 1650s. The 

count for the first half of the 1670s suggests that the migration 

continued at approximately the rate established in the pre¬ 

ceding decade, which is to say at an average of about sixty 

per year, but after 1674 the numbers decline and the total 

for the ten years falls to no more than 421. In the 1680s the 

sum total is 629. For the 1690s it is i,847.# 

Let me say at once that there are difficulties in interpret¬ 

ing the figures just given for the last quarter of the century, 

and especially those for its last two decades. The possible 

exaggeration of the overall total, as a result of the especially 

abusive usages known to have characterized the administra¬ 

tion of the system in the later years of the century, presents 

* The 

1660: 

count 

2 
by year is 

1670: 

as follows: 

33 1680 37 1690 182 

1661: 69 1671: 51 1681 23 1691 234 

1662: 53 1672: 51 1682 172 1692 44 

1663: 79 1673: 57 1683 102 1693 142 

1664: 77 1674: 104 1684 54 1694 202 
1665: 144 1675: 33 1685 1 1695 305 

1666: 110 1676: 28 1686 7 1696 258 

1667: 27 1677: 2 1687 95 1697 201 
1668: 18 1678: 42 1688 73 1698 246 

1669: 30 1679: 20 1689 65 1699 33 
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less of a problem than does evidence which calls into ques¬ 

tion the distribution of headlights within the period. These 

were years in which the Royal African Company, chartered 

in 1672, was greatly expanding England’s share of the slave 

trade. Unfortunately, its records provide no answer to the 

question of how many Africans it may have delivered to 

Virginia, as Kenneth Davies’s informed history of the com¬ 

pany advises us, but that study also indicates that in the 

period ending with the company’s loss of its monopoly in 

1698 no deliveries were made to Virginia after 1689.30 The 

fragmentary evidence included in Elizabeth Donnan’s pre¬ 

viously published collection of documents illustrative of the 

slave trade points to the same conclusion, and suggests the 

possibility that shipments to Virginia through the company’s 

agencies between 1678 and 1686 could have been in the 

neighborhood of nine hundred.31 Even more uncertain is 

the number of Africans who may have been brought to the 

colony by interlopers, who by 1698 had become politically 

powerful enough to bring an end to the company’s monopoly 

through an act of parliament. But the one documented in¬ 

stance of interloping activity we have falls in 1687, when a 

Bristol ship ran aground on the Eastern Shore with an ob¬ 

viously illegal cargo of 120 Negroes.32 Incomplete and un¬ 

certain as the evidence is, it argues that the headrights re¬ 

corded during the decade, and perhaps a little more, im¬ 

mediately preceding 1690 probably represent an understate¬ 

ment of the actual number of Negroes brought to the colony 

at that time. And this, in turn, raises the question of whether 

the greatly expanded number of black headrights in the 

1690s actually reflects the scale of the migration in that 

decade, or whether it is substantially representative of post¬ 

poned claims for Negroes reaching the colony somewhat 

earlier. 

I am inclined to believe that the latter was the case, that 

the importations of the 1690s actually may have been less 

impressive than historians long have thought because of the 
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very great increase in the number of black headrights re¬ 

corded in that decade. Such a view is reinforced by the 

known disruptions of the normal channels of trade, both 

with Africa and Virginia, occasioned during the first half of 

the decade by the war with France. I am unable to offer a 

fully satisfactory explanation for what appear to be decisions 

to defer making claims for some of the Negroes imported in 

the preceding decade, but two suggestions may be helpful. 

The Royal African Company enjoyed the consistently strong 

patronage of the last two Stuart kings, who strictly instructed 

their governors to lend every assistance to the company in 

upholding its monopoly. With Lord Howard of Effingham, 

a man noted for following instructions, serving as governor 

for almost five years after 1684, it could have been the better 

part of wisdom for a planter who had purchased Africans 

from an interloper to postpone the revelation that might be 

involved in securing a land patent. After 1689 the attitude 

of King William’s government, and of the company itself, 

was more tolerant of interloping.33 Of greater importance 

may have been the special fee of two hundred pounds of 

tobacco imposed by Effingham, beginning in the spring of 

1685, upon every use of the colony’s seal on a land patent, 

as on other documents. Perhaps the House of Burgesses, in 

its later indictment of the governor, was quite correct when 

it charged that the fee had deterred many men from use of 

the seal for taking up land. The fee was discontinued in 

1689.34 

With the exception of an apparent need for some redistri¬ 

bution of headrights in the later years of the century, 1 have 

found no reason for doubting that the record provided by 

the land patents is reasonably, though roughly, indicative of 

the black migration into seventeenth-century Virginia. The 

totals for any year or other period of time, except probably 

for the decade of the 1680s, may well be too large, for as with 

the white headrights it has to be assumed that there was 

some duplication of claims. But I am fully persuaded, for ex- 
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ample, that a considerably larger number of Negroes was 

brought to Virginia during the fifteen years beginning with 

1660 than had been brought through the entire period 

preceding that year. 

If I am at all correct, the chief among time-honored as¬ 

sumptions to be called into question is the belief that at 

micl-century Dutch merchants, trading in the Chesapeake 

with greater freedom than they theretofore had enjoyed or 

thereafter would be allowed, impressively enlarged the col¬ 

ony’s black labor force. It is quite possible that the Dutch 

were the chief source of supply at that time, but it would ap¬ 

pear that the number they supplied can be easily exaggerated. 

There seems to be a general agreement that Dutch ship¬ 

masters enjoyed their greatest freedom of trade with Virginia 

during the twelve years preceding the colony’s surrender to 

Cromwell and the outbreak of the first Anglo-Dutch war in 

1652.35 At the end of that year, however, the total number 

of Negroes listed as headlights since 1640 barely exceeded 

200, with 150 of this total belonging to the four years be¬ 

ginning with 1649.* Evidently the Dutch, then heavily en¬ 

gaged in underwriting the conversion from tobacco to sugar 

and from white labor to black labor in the English West 

Indian plantations, had few Negroes left for shipment to 

Virginia. 

By the same token it has to be suggested that English slave 

traders were comparably indifferent to the market in Vir¬ 

ginia at this time. We know very little about the English 

trade with Africa before the Restoration, indeed before the 

chartering of the Royal African Company in 1672, and what 

we know indicates that the trade was slow to develop and 

also slow to give the slave trade a high priority among its 

objectives.36 But recently Professor Brenner has discovered 

evidence that the "new merchants,” those building their 

fortunes upon a trade with the American plantations, were 

See table on p. 85. 
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leaders in the development of a serious English interest in 

the slave trade, that for the most part they traded at first as 

interlopers challenging the monopoly of the Guinea Com¬ 

pany, and that this challenge was beginning to assume 

serious proportions by the late 1630s.37 The evidence sup¬ 

porting this view includes a patent for three thousand acres 

received in the spring of 1638 by George Menefie, merchant, 

planter, and member of the governor’s council in Virginia. 

Among the sixty headrights were twenty-three Negroes de¬ 

scribed simply as the “Negroes I brought out of England 

with me.”38 It is possible that this was the first shipment of 

Africans to reach Virginia without stop or stay in some 

other part of America. Whatever may be the fact on that 

point, the suggestion that they had been acquired from some 

English slave trader is unmistakable, and it is known that 

Menefie had connections in the amorphous group of “new 

merchants.” It is also known that he was in London as late 

as July of the preceding year.39 He returned to London in 

1638 on a commission to recruit craftsmen for building a 

statehouse at Jamestown, and so the fifteen unnamed Negroes 

included as headrights in another patent for three thousand 

acres he secured in 1639 possibly also came from Africa by 

way of England.40 

For merchants trading chiefly with the American plan¬ 

tations the slave trade was a natural development of their 

primary interest, and such men as Maurice Thompson seem 

to have come out of the disruptions of the English Civil 

War with a heightened interest in that trade. But there can 

be little doubt that their chief hope was to overcome the 

decided lead the Dutch had taken as underwriters of the 

sugar boom in the West Indies. We have no certain statistical 

evidence as to the scale of the slave trade to the West Indian 

plantations at mid-century, but estimates that have been 

made suggest that annual importations into Barbados may 

have run well above a thousand from early in the 1640s, 

and may have reached the level of two thousand before 
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1650.41 By comparison the some three hundred Negroes who 

presumably entered Virginia during the following decade 

are a small number indeed. 

If we may trust the evidence offered by the land patents, 

the largest importers of Negroes into Virginia before the 

1660s were themselves Virginia planters, or perhaps I should 

say merchant-planters. The twenty-three Negroes brought 

from England by George Menefie in 1638 remained the larg¬ 

est number recorded in a single patent before 1656, when 

a patent granted two daughters of Edmund Scarborough, 

leading planter and merchant on the Eastern Shore, in¬ 

cluded forty-one Negroes among the seventy headrights 

listed.42 One looks a second time at this patent, for most of 

the names of the additional headrights are so obviously 

Irish as to suggest that all had been shipped together from 

Britain. But it is known that Scarborough had been in New 

Amsterdam the preceding August, where before sailing for 

Virginia with an unspecified number of “purchased Ne¬ 

groes,” he gave bond not to enter Delaware Bay or River on 

his way home. Thus, it can be concluded that the forty-one 

Negroes represent this purchase or a part of it. I say part 

because two other patents bearing the same date as that 

issued to his daughters included as headrights a total of 

ten Negroes who had been assigned to the patentees by 

Scarborough.43 It is possible that Scarborough was respon¬ 

sible for the largest single shipment into Virginia of Negroes 

whose presence in America is presumably attributable to 

the Dutch slave trade. 

Unfortunately, there appears to be no clue as to where 

Richard Lee may have secured the eighty Negroes for whom, 

despite their apparent loss at sea, he received a patent for 

four thousand acres in the fall of 1660. It can only be said 

that he had a close business connection in London with John 

Jeffreys, twelve years later a charter member of the Royal 

African Company and founder of a mercantile house which 

toward the end of the century, under the leadership of the 
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founder’s nephew, would be especially active in supplying 

African laborers for Virginia.44 Although I have omitted 

these eighty headrights from my tabulations, Lee’s patent 

remains one of extraordinary historical interest. Not until 

the 1690s is there found a patent listing a larger number of 

Negroes, and even then there were only four such patents.45 

The document, moreover, is unique among patents issued 

before the final quarter of the century in being granted for 

Negro headrights exclusively. When placed alongside the 

Menefie and Scarborough patents, it reinforces a suggestion 

that the Virginia planters were prompt in recognizing the 

advantages of Negro labor. 

That this awareness was by no means restricted to a few 

planters is indicated by the frequently cited statute of March 

1660 which offered to Dutch merchants bringing in “Negro 

slaves” exemption from an export duty imposed two years 

earlier upon tobacco shipped out of the colony for destina¬ 

tions other than England.46 The statute commonly has been 

cited in the context of a discussion of the Dutch supply of 

Negroes to Virginia at mid-century, and read as an effort by 

the assembly to encourage the Dutch merchants to continue 

the supply. But another reading, with a somewhat different 

emphasis, is possible. The statute was enacted at a difficult 

moment in the colony’s history, but one that was not lacking 

in hopefid prospects. The bill came from the same assembly 

which shrewdly anticipated the course of political develop¬ 

ments in England by electing Sir William Berkeley as gov¬ 

ernor several weeks before the restoration of Charles II to 

the English throne. Perhaps it can be said that the assembly- 

men less shrewdly anticipated the effect of that restoration 

upon Oliver Cromwell’s colonial policy. The Navigation 

Act of 1660, together with the failure of Berkeley’s mission 

of 1661-62 to win at Westminster any concession to Virginia’s 

petition for a freer trade than that act allowed, foreclosed 

such prospects as may have existed for a major contribution 

to the colony’s labor force by the Dutch. 
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It is not my purpose to suggest that Virginia might have 

made its heavy commitment to Negro labor a generation 

before it actually did. Although the act for the encourage¬ 

ment of Dutch traders was passed at a time when the migra¬ 

tion of indentured servants was apparently in marked de¬ 

cline, that migration quickly returned to flood tide, indeed to 

the highest levels established at any time during the century. 

All the more interesting, therefore, is the evidence in the 

land patents that simultaneously the Virginians almost 

doubled the scale of their importations of Negro servants. It 

hardly can be argued that this development was attributable 

to a critical shortage of labor, or that trans-Atlantic slave 

traders were pressing the colonists to accept larger shipments, 

for it is well known that these traders, of whatever nation¬ 

ality, had little interest in markets incapable of providing 

ready acceptance for cargoes of one hundred to two hundred 

or more slaves, and in no more than three of the fifteen years 

following 1660 (1665, 1666, and 1674) did the grand total of 

headrights for Negroes exceed one hundred. What is known 

of the English slave trade before 1672 indicates that the West 

Indian plantations continued to receive an overriding pri¬ 

ority, and how overriding that priority could be is indicated 

by the fact that the Royal African Company by 1689 had 

delivered some fifty-eight thousand slaves to the West Indies 

during a period in which the evidence available to us sug¬ 

gests that it may have sent somewhere near a thousand to 

Virginia.47 The question, it appears, is where and how the 

Virginians managed to find the Negroes they were importing 

in increasing numbers. 

On that question, happily, we have a helpful document, 

and so the kind of evidence that perhaps is still the most 

reassuring for most historians. It is found in a report by 

Edmund Jennings, acting governor of the colony, to the 

Board of Trade in 1708 that before 1680, according to the 

testimony of the older inhabitants, “what negroes were 

brought to Virginia were imported generally from Barbados 
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for it was very rare to have a Negro ship come to this Country 

directly from Africa.”48 The date of the document falls a 

bit late, and the testimony of older inhabitants is not always 

dependable, but there are reasons other than the apparently 

low level of importations before 1680 which argue that the 

statement is substantially correct. The trade between Vir¬ 

ginia and the West Indies—carried at times in shipping at 

least partially owned by Virginians, but more often perhaps 

by New England, Barbadian, or English ships—seems to have 

been a growing one during the course of the century and 

probably deserves heavier emphasis than it has generally 

been given by historians.49 Many of the English merchants 

who were active in the tobacco trade continued to have in¬ 

terests in the West Indies, and although by mid-century the 

northern sailing route from England to Virginia was pre¬ 

ferred, ships might still follow the southern route that made 

a call at Barbados convenient.50 Such evidence as we have 

indicates that a call there may have been the common prac¬ 

tice of ships delivering Africans to Virginia on contracts 

between the Royal African Company and established mer¬ 

chants in the colony’s trade, and there is also evidence that 

a Virginia planter might get a share in a contract intended 

perhaps for deliveries chiefly to Barbadian planters.51 Worth 

mentioning, at least, is the repeated use in headright lists 

during the second half of the century of the name ‘‘Barbados 

Mary.” Finally, there is the well established fact that Virginia 

continued through much of the eighteenth century to draw 

upon the West Indies for a by-no-means insignificant pro¬ 

portion of the Negroes brought into the colony.52 

No doubt there were some West Indian Negroes who mi¬ 

grated to Virginia with their masters, as did the original 

Negro population of South Carolina, but the very scanty 

evidence that is available as to the scale of that migration 

makes it impossible even to guess at the number.53 Nor is it 

possible to determine how long the Negroes brought from 

Barbados may have been resident in that island. Certainly 
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some of them only recently had arrived from Africa, but it 

has to be observed that until the end of the century, or very 

close to it, Barbados had the largest as well as one of the 

older Negro populations in the English plantations. There, 

as in no other place, was it possible to acquire slaves who 

had lived in an English community long enough to gain 

some knowledge of the language, to have made at least a 

partial adjustment to unfamiliar cultural patterns, and to 

have become acclimatized—to use the old term for what 

Philip Curtin recently has reminded us was a successful 

exposure to an “unfamiliar disease environment.”54 These 

are considerations which long have been used to explain in 

part a generally heavy dependence in New England and 

the other northern colonies upon Negroes imported from the 

West Indies,55 and it would be difficult to argue that the 

planters in seventeenth-century Virginia remained indiffer¬ 

ent to all such considerations, or to the opportunities tney 

had for a supply from Barbados. Indeed, the land patents 

suggest a pattern in the importation of Negroes at this time 

that seems to argue the opposite. 

Among the patents including headrights for black immi¬ 

grants, the representative patent included one, two, three, 

or six and at the most eight such headrights, often listed to¬ 

gether with other headrights in a way that invites consider¬ 

ation of the possibility that all belonged to the same ship¬ 

ment. Thus, the 562 Negroes listed as headrights before 

1660 are scattered through 173 different patents, for an av¬ 

erage of 3.2 per patent, and no more than 11 of the 173 

patents included over 8 Negroes. In the 1660s, with 125 

patents carrying Negro headrights, the average per patent 

rose to almost 4.9, and there were 22 patents which included 

more than 8 Negroes, but the larger listings can be con¬ 

sidered large only in comparison with the others. Among the 

22 patents listing more than 8 Negroes, the largest single 

claim made upon the land office for the importation of Ne¬ 

groes was for 25 headrights, and the average of these larger 



g6 The Seventeenth-Century Virginian 

claims was less than 15.56 Together the 22 patents account 

for 323 of the decade’s black headrights—in other words, for 

the major part of the total of 609, but hardly by an impres¬ 

sive margin. The overall average for the 1670s fell back to 

3.4, but it rose in the 1680s to 4.8, and in the final decade of 

the century to 7.7. 

One obvious question demands immediate attention. Does 

the preponderance of patents listing no more than a small 

number of Negroes, especially noticeable through the years 

falling before 1680, represent the actual character of the 

black migration to Virginia at this time, or does it speak 

rather of a wide distribution of ownership through purchases 

made from much larger shipments? It can be agreed at once 

that this evidence reinforces the view that until quite late in 

the century the typical slaveholder possessed only a few Ne¬ 

groes, and that this conclusion has a very special impor¬ 

tance. It also has to be agreed that the larger shipments prob¬ 

ably were brought in by men who intended to place the 

cargoes on the market, as so often was the case with large 

shipments of white servants. Mention, too, should be made 

of evidence that contract shipments by the Royal African 

Company during the 1680s were commonly divided up 

among several planters. Perhaps earlier there were a num¬ 

ber of shipments larger than those which found their way 

into the land patents, but any one who is familiar with those 

patents, and with the testimony they bear as to the practices 

followed by major importers of servants, must find it sur¬ 

prising that one or two of them, at least, did not get into the 

record. Why is it, one asks, that after the Scarborough grant 

of 1656 more than a quarter-century passed before another 

patent, with the single exception of Richard Lee’s patent 

for a shipment evidently lost at sea, was issued listing a com¬ 

parable number of Negroes? Or, why is it that not infre¬ 

quently through the intervening years a patent for one 

hundred or more headrights, a number large enough to 
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suggest that a claim was being made for an entire shipment 

of persons, included at the most three or four Negroes?57 

These are questions more easily stated than answered. 

Indeed, the evidence provided by the land patents is of a 

kind that necessarily limits general observations regarding 

the origins of Virginia’s Negro population to a few sug¬ 

gestions, but let me offer two or three. It was a very mixed 

population, I believe, so mixed as to make it virtually im¬ 

possible to say anything more specific regarding their Af¬ 

rican provenance than that they, or their ancestors, had come 

chiefly at some time or other from West Africa. Perhaps this 

mixed character of the original population can help explain 

the relative indifference of Virginia planters in the eighteenth 

century to this question of provenance as they greatly ex¬ 

panded the size of their importations from Africa.58 It is my 

impression that until late in the seventeenth century Vir¬ 

ginia’s Negro population had much more in common with 

those of the northern colonies than historians often have 

assumed. More than a few of these people probably were 

native to America, and among the natives of Africa there 

were some who had resided for a time in another part of 

America. 

It is impossible to suggest what proportion of the total 

number entering the colony may have been brought more 

or less directly from Africa. If it be assumed, as possibly 

it can be on the testimony of the Menefie and Scarborough 

patents, that the larger claims upon the land office are more 

likely to represent this group, and if the figures given before 

for the 1660s be used as the test, the proportion at that time 

would be something like 50 percent. The proportion con¬ 

ceivably may have been higher in the closing years of the 

1630s, for one or two patents in addition to those of George 

Menefie suggest that before 1641, the year usually given 

for the introduction of sugar into Barbados, the Virginia 

planter could have had as good a chance as any other to draw 



98 The Seventeenth-Century Virginian 

upon the newly developing English slave trade.59 Certainly 

the proportion of Africans increased during the last quarter 

of the century, but it should be observed that to the very 

end of the century the land patents carry many indications 

that small lot importations continued to represent a sig¬ 

nificant part of the migration. 

The size of Virginia’s Negro population at any time after 

1625 remains a difficult question. An anonymous pamphlet 

published at London in 1649 declared that there then were 

300 Negroes in the colony,60 and this appears to be not too far 

off the mark, in view of the 245 headlights that had been 

recorded by the end of that year.* On the other hand, Sir 

William Berkeley’s report that there were 2,000 in 1671, if 

it is at all correct to assume that the headrights for this 

period establish some outer limit for the actual migration, 

is called into serious question. According to my count, the 

grand total of black headrights through 1671 is 1,255, ar*d 

almost half of these are accounted for by patents issued with¬ 

in the preceding decade. Some allowance has to be made, of 

course, for a natural increase, but such evidence as we have 

on that subject makes it very doubtful that in 1671 there 

could have been nearly 750 Negroes who were native to 

Virginia. Lord Culpepper’s estimate of 3,000 in 1681 also 

may be open to question, but he probably was closer to the 

fact than Sir William had been. 

Unfortunately, the headrights provide no base for any¬ 

thing approaching an exact calculation of the sex ratio in 

the Negro migration to seventeenth-century Virginia. Al¬ 

though it is possible to identify by sex more than half of the 

headrights recorded, either by the name used or by some 

designation of the sex when names were not listed, there is a 

great difference in the percentages of the total in successive 

periods of time that can be so identified. Because the names 

were more frequently given in the final quarter of the cen- 

For the figures used here and hereafter, see tables on pp. 85 and 86. 
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tury, much the highest percentage of the total which is iden¬ 

tifiable by sex falls in that period, and regrettably the lowest 

percentage is that for the third quarter, a period of critical 

importance for any attempt to estimate the effect of a natural 

increase in the population toward the end of the century.* 

Even so, suggestions that may be helpful can be drawn 

from the figures. The ratio of 180.5 f°r the years preceding 

1650, with more than 40 percent of the total of 245 head- 

rights identifiable by sex, is close enough to the two to one 

ratio that seems to have been more or less characteristic of 

the slave trade to justify a suggestion that the black migra¬ 

tion up to that time could have brought some 80 females into 

the colony.-j- The low ratio of 159.7 f°r the next twenty-five 

years undoubtedly needs an upward adjustment to take into 

account the probabilities for the nearly 72 percent of the 

total number of headlights that is not identifiable by sex. If 

this adjustment were to bring the ratio up to something like 

two to one, a migration of 1200 Negroes, which is the total 

of black headrights for the period stated in round numbers, 

would have brought into the colony approximately 400 fe¬ 

males, most of them probably of child-bearing age. If the 

actual ratio was higher than two to one, which is possible, 

the number of females would be correspondingly lower. If 

a further allowance be needed for duplication in headright 

claims, something always to be suspected in the record we 

* A tabulation, from which all names, or abbreviations of names, that 

are in any way debatable have been omitted, has provided the following 

data: 

Total headrights Identifiable by sex Percentage 

1635-49 245 101 41.2 

1650-74 1,222 348 28.4 

1675-99 2,601 1,924 73.9 

f The ratios for the successive periods have been calculated as 

follows: 

Identifiable by sex Male Female Sex ratio 

1635-49 101 65 36 180.5 

1650-74 348 214 134 159.7 

1675-99 1,924 1,409 515 273.5 
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are using, it becomes doubtful that many more than 400 

Negro women had reached Virginia by 1675. Of these, more¬ 

over, many only recently had arrived in the colony. 

There would appear to be little point in continuing an 

exercise that can serve only to remind us that there were 

decided limitations imposed by the very character of the 

migration upon the potential for a natural increase in the 

colony’s Negro population during the course of the seven¬ 

teenth century. As during the final quarter of the century 

the migration grew in size, so also apparently did the ratio 

of male to female become higher, a development wholly con¬ 

sistent with the assumption that larger importations were 

now being made directly from Africa. A comparison with 

instructions from the Royal African Company to its agents 

in Africa will suggest that the indicated ratio of 273.5 for 

the last quarter of the century may be a bit high.61 But more 

important perhaps is the indication that the imbalance of 

the sexes in the black migration to seventeenth-century Vir¬ 

ginia apparently never became so marked as it was in the 

white migration to the colony.* 

So far as I know, no information has been assembled on 

the fertility of Negro women under the conditions of life 

they met in seventeenth-century Virginia. Once more, it is 

possible only to offer a few suggestions, each of them carry¬ 

ing some warning of the risk that the rate of reproduction 

can be exaggerated. The basic consideration would appear 

to be a wide dispersal of ownership. The subject needs more 

attention than it has received, but such evidence as we have, 

including that in the land patents, argues that a larger pro¬ 

portion of the blacks experienced through most of the cen¬ 

tury a significantly higher degree of separation, or even 

isolation, from their fellows than later would be the case.62 

It may also be true that the modern student, following the 

logic of his own calculations, too readily has assumed that 

* See above, pp. 26-27. 
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the seventeenth-century planter was prompt to recognize 

the advantages of a self-perpetuating labor force. The only 

points on which we can be certain are that the Negroes were 

valued at first chiefly for the longer term of their service, 

that the females were commonly employed in the fields, that 

the interruptions occasioned by pregnancy and the care of a 

child could be costly, and that elsewhere masters did not 

always encourage breeding among their slaves.63 It may be 

worth recalling that the census of 1625 showed only two 

Negro children, despite the near balance of eleven males to 

ten females in an adult black population that for the most 

part had been resident in the colony better than five years.* 

Finally, one must consider the attitude of the women them¬ 

selves, and especially of those freshly brought from Africa. 

Many comments have been made upon the morbidity, at 

times expressed in suicide, of the African after reaching 

America, and the unwillingness of some women to bring a 

child into the condition of enslavement. 

The presence of an increasing number of mulattoes can 

hardly be ignored as a factor offsetting one of the influences 

mentioned earlier. However often Negroes in early Virginia 

may have been isolated from the company of their fellows, 

they certainly lived no less often in close and daily contact, 

in the field and about the house, not only with other servants 

but also with the master and the master’s family, and this in 

a colony where the imbalance of the sexes was perhaps more 

marked than in any other of the North American settle¬ 

ments. Public policy from an early date, presumably because 

there were enough English women present to determine so¬ 

cial conventions, discouraged miscegenation. Although a 

statutory prohibition of intermarriage evidently came first 

in an act of 1691, especially severe penalties for fornication 

* It is of some interest to note in this connection that Abraham 

Piersey, one of the two chief owners of Negroes in 1625, had four men 

and one woman on his property, while George Yeardley held five women 

and three men. 
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involving the black and the white had been imposed as early 

as 1630, and after 1662 statute law established the penalty 

as double that for an ordinary case of fornication. Even so, 

nature obviously had its way. The term mulatto had come 

into use by the 1650s. Its first use in a statute seems to have 

been in an act of 1672 declaring all “negro and molatto 

children’’ born “in this country” tithable at the age of six¬ 

teen. Thereafter, few statutes dealing in any way with the 

question of the Negro departed from the standard reading 

of “Negroes and Mulattoes.” How many of the latter there 

were it is impossible to say. It has been assumed that a con¬ 

siderable number of the colony’s free Negroes were mulattoes 

who had achieved their freedom through manumission by 

their own fathers. But we actually know very little about 

the mulatto. It is difficult to think of a subject more ne¬ 

glected by historians, no doubt because custom and law had 

classified the mulatto as a Negro before the end of the cen¬ 

tury and so left him with no history of his own.64 

There appears to be no reason for assuming that the Ne¬ 

groes in seventeenth-century Virginia suffered an excessive 

rate of mortality. Certainly there is no evidence of condi¬ 

tions comparable to those in the West Indies, where the ex¬ 

cess of deaths over births repeatedly produced a net decrease 

that was balanced by fresh importations from Africa. Accord¬ 

ing to Philip Alexander Bruce, the conversion to Negro 

labor in Virginia was encouraged by the belief that the 

African required no “seasoning,” as so often did the white 

servant with a resultant loss of time due the master.65 This 

quite possibly is true, for by the second half of the century 

malaria could well have been the disease consistently be¬ 

setting the new arrival from England. It was a disease en¬ 

demic to West Africa, and the African may have brought 

with him a degree of immunity to its worst effects not en¬ 

joyed by the servant coming from England.66 Moreover, 

some of the Negroes reaching the colony from other parts 

of America were perhaps already "seasoned,” in the sense of 
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having made their own adjustment to the unfamiliar dis¬ 

eases of European communities. 

Modern estimates of the size of Virginia’s Negro popula¬ 

tion at the end of the century serve chiefly to emphasize the 

difficulty of the problem. They range from the estimate of 

six thousand by Bruce to the sixteen thousand found in the 

Historical Statistics of the United States.67 One has to con¬ 

sider that well before 1700 the familiar outlines of the Vir¬ 

ginia type of plantation were clearly emerging, with its 

predominantly black labor force, its slave quarters, and its 

overseers. As early as 1686 William Fitzhugh could boast 

that most of the twenty-nine Negroes he then owned were 

native to Virginia, and the higher valuations placed in inven¬ 

tories of estates upon native born slaves thereafter become 

noticeable.68 But when one considers further the possibility 

that the record of the black migration carried by the land 

patents exaggerates its size, the several factors that could 

have affected the potential for a natural increase, and the 

need to find some figure that fits well with the known accel¬ 

eration of importations after 1698, the weight of the argu¬ 

ment seems to favor an estimate somewhat larger but not 

greatly in excess of six thousand.69 

In conclusion, let me say that I am painfully aware that I 

have raised in these discussions many more questions than I 

have been able to answer. I can only hope that you may 

agree that the lecture platform is an appropriate place to 

raise questions. 
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